
           
The City of Muskogee encourages participation from all its citizens in public meetings. If participation is not possible due to a disability, notify the City
Clerk, in writing, at least forty-eight hours prior to the scheduled meeting and necessary accommodations will be made (ADA 28 CFR/36).

(Public Comment during Public Hearing or Agenda item comment)

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments on agenda items and public hearings to five (5) minutes and general comments for non-agenda items to
three (3) minutes.  Any person desiring to address the Committee during such period is required to sign in with the City Clerk prior to the meeting
between 5:00 p.m. and 5:15 p.m. on the third floor of City Hall or anytime between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. in the Office of the City Clerk. They
shall provide their name, address and specify the agenda item they wish to address.  Remarks shall be directed to the matter being considered and the speaker
is allowed to speak only one time.  If written materials are to be submitted twelve (12) copies should be made available, and may not be returned.

 

AGENDA
PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE

MARCH 11, 2024
 
 

Official action can only be taken on items which appear on the agenda. The public body may adopt, approve, ratify, deny, defer, recommend, amend, strike,
or continue any agenda item.
 
When more information is needed to act on an item, the public body may refer the matter to Staff or back to Committee or the recommending body.
 
Under certain circumstances, items are deferred to a specific date or stricken from the agenda entirely.

 
REGULAR SESSION - 5:30 P.M., 3RD FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, MUNICIPAL
BUILDING, 229 W. OKMULGEE, MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA

           
1. Consider approval of Public Works Committee minutes of February 12, 2024, or take other

necessary action.
 
2. Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4225-A, an ordinance amending the City of Muskogee

Code of Ordinances, Chapter 90, Zoning Regulations; Article XII, On-Site Development
Standards; Section 04-05(a) Fences in Residential Districts, providing for Repealer,
Severability, and Setting an Effective Date, or take other necessary action. (Committee
Member Jamie Stout) 

 
3. Consider approval of Ordinance 4229-A, an Ordinance of the City of Muskogee,

by Amending Chapter 2, Administration, Article V. Boards and Commissions, Division 12
Municipal Employees Retirement Board; Section 2-470, Established; Functions and Duties;
Meetings; Quorum; Section 2-471, Membership, Election and Qualifications; Section.
2-472, Terms and Representation By Department; Providing for Codification, Repealer,
Severability and Setting an Effective Date. (Maggie Eaton)

 
4. Consider approval of amended City Council Policy 3-1-1, Affirmative Action Plan, for FY

2022-2023, or take other necessary action.  (Maggie Eaton)
 
5. Consider approval of Resolution No. 2977 amending Appendix A.--Schedule of Fees and



5. Consider approval of Resolution No. 2977 amending Appendix A.--Schedule of Fees and
Charges, to the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances (Wholesale Customers Water Rates),
or take other necessary action. (Mike Miller)

 
6. Receive report on the upcoming annual Azalea Cleanup, to take place March 20th through

March 23rd, or take other necessary action. (Mike Stewart)
 
7. Consider approval of the use of the Muskogee-Davis Regional Airport for a TORA! TORA!

TORA! event sponsored by Davis Field Aviation, our FBO operator at the airport, with
financial and promotional support from Visit Muskogee, or take other necessary action. 
(Mike Stewart)

 
8. Consider approval of the purchase of 112 two-yard dumpsters from Wastequip, for a total

amount of $53,483.00, via the Sourcewell Purchasing Agreement, RFP #040621, or take
other necessary action. (Mike Stewart)

 
9. Receive report on street rehabilitation projects funded by the 2019 CIP street sales tax, or

take other necessary action. (Mike Stewart)
 
10. Consider approval for the City of Muskoge to submit a  Notice of Intent to seek potential

funding for the Meadows Subdivision Flood Mitigation Study, in the amount of
$150,000.00, and the Citywide Stormwater Management Plan, in the amount of
$500,000.00, to accept said grant funds if awarded, and use of the matching grant funds in
the amount of $187,500 for these grants, or take other necessary action. (Mike Stewart)

 
11. Consider approval of the lowest and best bid in the amount of $2,270,998.50, Subtotal Base

plus Add Alt. No. 1 Bid, from Cook Consulting, LLC, for Waterline Interconnects Package
"D", Project No. 2022024, as recommended by Cowan Group Engineering, or take other
necessary action. (Mike Stewart)

 
12. Discuss a forensic audit of the City of Muskogee financial records, or take other necessary

action.  (Committee Member Traci McGee)
 

RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO CHAIRMAN AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their
name, address, and the particular issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Committee Members are prohibited from discussing or taking any
action on items not on today’s agenda. If written materials are to be submitted to the Committee twelve (12) copies should be made available, and may not be
returned.



   
Public Works Committee 1.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Initiator: Jennifer Sharp, Admin II
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of Public Works Committee minutes of February 12, 2024, or take other necessary
action.

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
2-12 pw min 



MINUTES

OF THE PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 
OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 

MET  IN REGULAR SESSION 
IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF CITY HALL

FEBRUARY 12, 2024

 
The Public Works Committee of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, met in Regular Sessions at 5:30
p.m., February 12, 2024, in Council Chambers, Municipal Building, 229 W. Okmulgee Ave.,
Muskogee, Oklahoma.

  
Present:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed; Committee Member Jaime Stout; Committee Member Alex

Reynolds; Chair Tracy Hoos; Committee Member Shirley Hilton-Flanary; Committee
Member Perline Boyattia-Craig; Committee Member Patrick Cale 

Absent:  Mayor Marlon J. Coleman; Committee Member Traci McGee 

Staff
Present:

Mike Miller, City Manager; Roger Kolman, Assistant City Manager; Katrina
Bodenhamer, City Attorney; Tammy L. Tracy, City Clerk; Kenna Terrell, Deputy City
Clerk; Mike Stewart, Public Works Director; Jeff Reeves, Project Manager; Maggie
Eaton, Human Resources Director; Avery Rigney, Assistant Public Works Director; Mark
Wilkerson, Parks & Recreation Director; Tera Shows, Media Relations Manager; Chad
Farmer, Deputy Police Chief; Brooke Hall, Asst. Director of Parks & Recreation; Jeff
Lee, Garage Supervisor; Chris Cummings, IT Director 

 

               
1.      Consider approval of Public Works Committee minutes of January 8, 2024, or take

other necessary action.
  

 
  Motion was made by Committee Member Shirley Hilton-Flanary, seconded by

Committee Member Jaime Stout to approve of Public Works Committee minutes
of January 8, 2024. 

  AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
2.      Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4224-A, an ordinance amending the City of   

1 of 4



2. Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4224-A, an ordinance amending the City of
Muskogee Code of Ordinances, by amending Chapter 82, Utilities, Article VI, Refuse
Collection, Section 82-743, Other Trash Containers, Adding Repealer, Severability and
Setting an Effective Date, or take other necessary action.  (Mike Stewart)

Assistant Public Works Director Avery Rigney explained in October 2022, City
Council passed an ordinance amending the process for additional bag pick-up
service. He stated at that time, a section of the ordinance was not repealed. This
amendment corrects this oversight and brings the ordinance into compliance.  Staff
recommended approval.

Motion was made by Committee Member Shirley Hilton-Flanary, seconded by
Committee Member Jaime Stout to approve Ordinance No. 4224-A, an ordinance
amending the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances, by amending Chapter 82,
Utilities, Article VI, Refuse Collection, Section 82-743, Other Trash Containers,
Adding Repealer, Severability and Setting an Effective Date. 

AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

3. Consider approval of Resolution No. 2975 declaring the property located at 1016
South C Street in the City of Muskogee as surplus property, and authorize the City
Manager to negotiate and execute a Quit Claim Deed for the subject property, or take
other necessary action. (Jody King)

Motion was made by Committee Member Jaime Stout, seconded by Committee
Member Perline Boyattia-Craig to approve Resolution No. 2975 declaring the
property located at 1016 South C. Street in the City of Muskogee as surplus
property, and authorize the City Manager to negotiate and execute a Quit Claim
Deed for the subject property. 

AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

4. Consider approval of final payment to TLS Group, Inc., in the amount of $71,036.27,
for Four Corners Signalization, Project No. 2016040, or take other necessary action.
(Mike Stewart)

Project Manager Jeff Reeves stated the Four Corners Project has been completed. The
project included new sidewalk and wheelchair ramps, traffic signal improvements,
traffic striping improvements, and traffic signage improvements.  Staff recommended
approval.

2 of 4



 
  Motion was made by Committee Member Jaime Stout, seconded by Committee

Member Shirley Hilton-Flanary to approve final payment to TLS Group, Inc., in
the amount of $71,036.27, for Four Corners Signalization, Project No. 2016040. 

  AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
5.      Consider approval of final payment to Mason Enterprise Group, in the amount of

$3,519.00, for Sewer Plant Chiller, Project No. 2022038, or take other necessary
action. (Mike Stewart)

Project Manager Jeff Reeves stated the chiller plant project has been completed with
the installation of service line connections, a new HVAC unit, and new supply lines.
Staff recommended approval.

  

 
  Motion was made by Committee Member Jaime Stout, seconded by Committee

Member Shirley Hilton-Flanary to approve of final payment to Mason Enterprise
Group, in the amount of $3,519.00, for Sewer Plant Chiller, Project No. 2022038. 

  AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
6.      (No Action) Receive an update from the City of Muskogee Health Committee

regarding renewals for Plan Year 2024, and take other necessary action. (Maggie Eaton)

Human Resources Director Maggie Eaton presented information regarding Plan Year
2024 renewals.

  

 
7.      Consider approval of the appointment of Joy Sloan to the Parks and Recreation Board,

to serve a four (4) year term, filling the expiring term of Evelyn Hibbs, beginning
March 1, 2024, and ending February 29, 2028, or take other necessary action.
(Councilor Perline Boyattia-Craig)

  

 
  Motion was made by Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, seconded by

Vice Mayor Derrick Reed to approve of the appointment of Joy Sloan to the Parks
and Recreation Board, to serve a four (4) year term, filling the expiring term of
Evelyn Hibbs, beginning March 1, 2024, and ending February 29, 2028. 

  AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee

3 of 4



  AYE:  Vice Mayor Derrick Reed, Committee Member Jaime Stout, Committee
Member Alex Reynolds, Chair Tracy Hoos, Committee Member Shirley
Hilton-Flanary, Committee Member Perline Boyattia-Craig, Committee
Member Patrick Cale 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
 

RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO CHAIRMAN AND COMMITTEE
MEMBERS.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to
speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their name, address, and the particular
issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Council Members are prohibited from
discussing or taking any action on items not on today’s agenda. If written materials are to be
submitted to the Council twelve (12) copies should be made available, and may not be returned.

Kimbra Scott, Port of Muskogee, spoke to clarify details regarding the new Stardust Power company
coming to Muskogee.
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

 

  CHAIR TRACY HOOS
PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE                                                       

      

 
pwmin
TT

   

4 of 4



   
Public Works Committee 2.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Initiator: Jody King, Planning Director
Department: Planning Dept
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4225-A, an ordinance amending the City of Muskogee Code of
Ordinances, Chapter 90, Zoning Regulations; Article XII, On-Site Development Standards; Section
04-05(a) Fences in Residential Districts, providing for Repealer, Severability, and Setting an Effective
Date, or take other necessary action. (Committee Member Jamie Stout)

BACKGROUND:
Currently, the City of Muskogee Zoning Code allows for privacy fences to be at a maximum height of
six (6) feet on the sides and rear of a structure. This ordinance will amend Section 90-12-04-05(a)
changing the height maximum from six to eight feet tall for privacy fences. This amendment will give
residents more privacy on their property, options when deciding on how tall of a fence they may want,
and will help to block out unattractive nuisances from surrounding neighbors.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve Ordinance

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 4225-A 



 
    ORDINANCE NO. 4225-A 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
BY AMENDING CHAPTER 90, ZONING REGULATIONS; ARTICLE XII, ON-SITE 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS; SECTION 04-05(a) FENCES IN RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICTS.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA, AS FOLLOWS: 
            
Section 1.  Chapter 90, Zoning Regulations; Article XII, On-Site Development Standards; 
Section 04-05(a) Fences in Residential Districts, which shall be amended to read as follows, to-
wit: 
 

90-12-04. ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 
 

5. Fences in Residential Districts 
 a. Fences or walls, to a maximum height of six (6) eight (8). 

 
Section 2.   REPEALER.  All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in direct conflict herewith 
are repealed to the extent of the conflict only.  
 
Section 3.   SEVERABILITY.  Should any part section, subsection, sentence, provision, clause 
or phrase hereof be held invalid, void, or unconstitutional for any reason, such holding shall not 
render invalid, void, or unconstitutional any other section, subsection, sentence, provision, 
clause, or phrase of this ordinance, and the same are deemed severable for this purpose. 
 
Section 4.   EFFECTIVE DATE.  This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 
publication as provided by law. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 
OKLAHOMA, THIS, ____ DAY OF MARCH, 2024. 
 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 

MARLON J. COLEMAN, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 



 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this   day of  , 20____. 
 
 
________________________________________________ 
KATRINA BODENHAMER, CITY ATTORNEY 
 



   
Public Works Committee 3.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Initiator: Katrina Bodenhamer, City Attorney
Department: Personnel
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of Ordinance 4229-A, an Ordinance of the City of Muskogee, by Amending Chapter
2, Administration, Article V. Boards and Commissions, Division 12 Municipal Employees Retirement
Board; Section 2-470, Established; Functions and Duties; Meetings; Quorum; Section 2-471,
Membership, Election and Qualifications; Section. 2-472, Terms and Representation By Department;
Providing for Codification, Repealer, Severability and Setting an Effective Date. (Maggie Eaton)

BACKGROUND:
The Municipal Employees Retirement Board has been inactive for the past few years and there are
currently no sitting board members.  This proposed amendment would move the election of board
members from December to April to enable convening a committee by election in April of 2024.  This
proposed Amendment would also remove the requirement that a  city council member be on the board,
and have all board members be elected by city employees.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Ordinance.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 4229-A Municipal Employees Retirement Board 



 
 

1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 4229-A 
 

AN AMENDED ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA, BY 
AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE V. BOARDS AND 
COMMISSIONS, DIVISION 12 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT 
BOARD; SECTION 2-470, ESTABLISHED; FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES; 
MEETINGS; QUORUM; SECTION 2-471, MEMBERSHIP, ELECTION AND 
QUALIFICATIONS; SECTION. 2-472, TERMS AND REPRESENTATION BY 
DEPARTMENT; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION, REPEALER, 
SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  The City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 2, Administration, Article V, Boards 
and Commission, Division 12, Municipal Employees Retirement Board, Section 2-470, 
Established; Functions and Duties; Meetings; Quorum; Section 2-471, Membership, 
Election and Qualifications; Section. 2-472, Terms and Representation by Department 
which shall read as follows, to-wit: 

 

SECTION. 2-470. ESTABLISHED; FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES; MEETINGS; QUORUM. 

(a) The municipal employees retirement board, hereinafter called "the board," is hereby 
established to represent the interest of the member employees of the Employees 
Retirement System, Defined Contribution Plan, of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, 
as provided for in section 62-135, hereinafter called "retirement system." A member 
employee is one and the same as defined in Ordinance No. 3640-A. The board 
shall function in an advisory capacity to the city council. The board may make 
recommendations regarding desired changes to the Defined Contribution Plan. The 
board may make recommendations regarding desired changes to the plans and 
allow members an opportunity to comment on said changes. The board shall review 
and make recommendations regarding any ordinance or resolution which would 
amend the retirement system. The board may also review and make 
recommendations regarding the performance of the investment manager of the 
plans.  

(b) The board shall meet once each quarter. Any employee covered by the retirement 
program can place an item on the board's agenda for consideration. Copies of the 
minutes of all meetings are to be submitted to the city council.  



 

2 
 

(c) A quorum shall consist of four of the voting members., and a majority vote is 
required from the members present.  

Sec. 2-471. Membership, election, and qualifications. 

(a) The municipal employee retirement board shall consist of:  
(1) Seven voting members elected as provided in this section;  
(2) The city clerk, the city treasurer and the authorized agent of the retirement 

system as ex officio nonvoting members; and 
(3) A member appointed by and from city council.  

They city councilmember shall be the chairman of the board and vote in case of a tie 
only.  In the absence of the chairman, the board shall elect a temporary chairman from 
the ex-officio members.   The Chairperson of the Committee shall be elected biannually 
at the first meeting of the fiscal year, from the membership, and shall serve a term of 
two (2) years.    In the absence of the chairman, the board shall elect a temporary 
chairman from the ex officio members.  Members are not limited to the number of terms 
they may serve as Chairperson.  It shall be the duty of the Chairperson to preside at all 
meetings of the Committee, call meetings and perform other such duties as determined 
by the Committee.   The meetings shall be conducted in accordance with Robert's Rules 
of Order Revised, 1915 (Fourth) Edition.  
(b) An election will be held on the second Thursday Tuesday in December  April 

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  A petition for candidates to sign will 
be posted in the office of the city clerk for five working days prior to the election 
which shall be removed at 5:00 p.m. Tuesday on the Friday prior to the election. 

 (c) The qualifications to serve as an elected member of the board shall be:  
(1) A fulltime employee of the city for at least one year prior to the posting period;  
(2) A member of the retirement system or active participant in the plans;  
(3) Employed within the department from which elected;  
(4) For the vested position, the member must be vested under the terms of the 

plan by the end of the posting period, or for the nonvested position, the 
member must be nonvested at the time of the election. A nonvested member 
that becomes vested during the term does not forfeit the position.  

(d) Voting will be at large for all positions. If a candidate does not receive more than 50 
percent of the votes, a runoff election will be held the following Monday between 
the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  

Sec. 2-472. Terms and representation by department. 

(a) Terms of members of the municipal employees retirement board shall commence 
on January 1 May 1 and expire on December 31 April 30 for each respective year.  

(b) After the initial term, each position will serve a four-year term. Term limits will be 
staggered so two positions would become vacant each year with only one position 



 

3 
 

vacant every fourth year. A vested and a nonvested position would be open every 
year except the fourth year.  

Sec. 2-473. Absences and vacancies. 

(a) If an elected member of the municipal employees retirement board has more than 
two unexcused absences within one calendar year, his position will automatically 
be considered vacant. In case of a vacancy, the position will be filled with an 
appointment by the city council to serve until the next annual election. The newly 
elected member will serve the remainder of the term.  

(b) If the city councilmember misses more than two consecutive meetings, the city 
council shall appoint a new member to serve the remainder of the term.  

 
SECTION 2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision, paragraph, word, section of article of this 
Ordinance is invalidated by any court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions, 
paragraphs, words, sections and chapters shall not be affected and shall continue in full 
force and effect. 
 
SECTION 3. REPEALER. All other Ordinances and parts of other Ordinances 
inconsistent or conflicting with any part of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such inconsistency or conflict. 
 
SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after 
publication. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE 
ON THIS ________ DAY OF ____________, 2024. 
 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE: 
 

 
       ________________________________ 
       MARLON J. COLEMAN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:  
     
      (seal) 
______________________________ 
TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 
 
 
 



 

 
    Created: 2023-12-05 13:50:17 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 24, Update 1) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

Approved as to form and legality this ______ day of ______________, 2024. 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
KATRINA BODENHAMER, CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 
 



   
Public Works Committee 4.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Initiator: Maggie Eaton, Human Resources Director
Department: Personnel
Staff Information Source: Maggie Eaton 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of amended City Council Policy 3-1-1, Affirmative Action Plan, for FY 2022-2023,
or take other necessary action.  (Maggie Eaton)

BACKGROUND:
The purpose of the Affirmative Action Plan is to identify organizational components and job categories
within the City of Muskogee's workforce in which minorities and women are not represented in
proportion to their availability in the labor force, and to devise and implement strategies to achieve
equitable representation.  Strategies have been developed over the last few years, and continue to be
modified, as the need arises for hiring qualified minority candidates. 

The effective date of this policy will be the date approved by City Council.

This policy includes amended data for the current and past fiscal year.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Recommend approval of the amended Affirmative Action Plan for the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma,
Council Policy 3-1-1.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
3-1-1 
3-1-1 change 



 
   

  

  

  

  

  

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLAN 

FOR THE 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 

 

 

 

 

MARLON COLEMAN, MAYOR 

DERRICK REED, DEPUTY MAYOR 

TRACI MCGEE, COUNCIL MEMBER 

JAIME STOUT, COUNCIL MEMBER 

ALEX REYNOLDS, COUNCIL MEMBER 

TRACY HOOS, COUNCIL MEMBER 

PATRICK CALE, COUNCIL MEMBER 

PERLIN BOYATTIA-CRAIG, COUNCIL MEMBER 

SHIRLEY HILTON-FLANARY, COUNCIL MEMBER 

 

 

 

 

July 2023 

(Revision number twenty-two) 

 

  

 



  

  

(Attach Resolution #1724) 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



I, Mike Miller, City Manager of the City of Muskogee, support the attached 

Affirmative Action Plan, approved February 1975, and updated ____________________, 

2024, (revision twenty-two), and intend for it to be fully implemented.  

  

  

___________________________________  

           MIKE MILLER  

           CITY MANAGER  

  

        

           ___________________________________  

           DATE  

  

  

I, Maggie Eaton, Director of Human Resources of the City of Muskogee, support 

the attached Affirmative Action Plan, approved February 1975, updated 

___________________, 2024, and intend for it to be fully implemented.  

  

   

  

           __________________________________  

           MAGGIE EATON 

           DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES  

  

       

___________________________________  

            DATE  

  

  

  



  

  

CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

  

LEGAL AUTHORITY:  

   Title 7, Civil Rights Act of 1964  

   Title 6, Civil Rights Act of 1964  

  Executive Order 11245 Executive Order 12067  

   Executive Order 11375 Executive Order 13672 

Public Law 90-202 Public Law 93-112, As Amended/Rehabilitation Act of 1973  

   American with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 

 Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008     

DEFINITION:  

Affirmative Action is defined as that action necessary to overcome policies and 

practices of discrimination and to ensure the absence of discrimination.  Affirmative 

Action is defined as an active effort to improve the opportunities in employment and/or 

education and to promote the rights or progress of members of minority groups, women 

and other disadvantaged persons.  

PURPOSE:  

To identify organizational components and job categories within the City of 

Muskogee’s workforce in which minorities and women are not represented in proportion 

to their availability in the labor force, and to devise and implement strategies to 

achieve equitable representation. The City of Muskogee is an equal opportunity 



employer and believes that every employee has the right to work in surroundings which 

are free from all forms of unlawful discrimination.  

POLICY:  

The City of Muskogee is committed to promoting affirmative action and to 

provide equal employment to all persons in all matters affecting City employment in 

accordance with Federal and State laws and guidelines.  It is the policy of the City of 

Muskogee, Oklahoma, to promote equal opportunity in regards to race, creed, color, 

gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran, religion or 

disability status in compliance with above stated legal authority and in the hiring and 

advancement process in all job classifications within the City.    

  It is not the intent of this policy to permit or require the lowering of bona fide job 

requirements or qualification standards in order to give preference to any employee or 

applicant for employment.  Selection, hiring, placement and promotion decisions will 

be based on valid requirements and criteria that are job related, essential and 

necessary functions of the job as set forth in classification descriptions and employment 

requirements.   

  The City of Muskogee will take affirmative action to insure that the City will:   

(1)  recruit, hire and promote all personnel without regard to race, creed, 

color, religion, gender, age, national origin, sexual orientation, genetic 

information, veteran or disability status except where gender, age or 

disability status is a bonafide occupational qualification;   

(2)  base decisions on employment so as to further the principle of equal 

employment opportunity;   



(3)  foster promotional decisions which are in accordance with principles of 

equal employment opportunity by imposing only valid requirements for 

promotional opportunities;   

(4)  require that all personnel actions such as compensation, benefits, 

transfers, layoffs, return from layoffs, City-sponsored training, 

education, tuition assistance and social and recreational programs be 

administered without regard to race, color, creed, religion, gender, age, 

national origin, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran or 

disability status;  

(5)  promote equal representation on boards and committees;   

(6)  instruct and direct all employees with supervisory and hiring authority 

to actively and steadfastly adhere to all principles and procedures 

herein established for the accomplishment of this Affirmative Action 

Plan; and   

(7)  promote equal opportunity with regard to all services provided by the 

City.    

  Pursuant to City Council Policy 3-6-4 (Americans with Disabilities Act), the City 

of Muskogee will provide, when necessary, reasonable accommodations to applicants’ 

and/or employees’ disabilities, when doing so will enable them to successfully perform 

the essential functions of the job for which they are qualified.   

  The City of Muskogee prohibits retaliatory actions against employees or 

applicants for employment, who make a charge of employment discrimination, testify, 

assist or participate, in any manner, in a hearing, proceeding or investigation of 



employment discrimination.   

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY OFFICER:  

  The Human Resources/Personnel Director of the City of Muskogee has been 

named as the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer and has, therefore, been 

designated as that person who shall develop and monitor the implementation of 

personnel procedures with which to guide the City’s Affirmative Action Plan.  This 

individual is charged with designing and implementing audit and reporting systems 

that will keep the City Manager and the City Council informed as of the status of Equal 

Employment Opportunity and Affirmative Action efforts.  

  Ms. Maggie Eaton is the Human Resources/Personnel Director and has served in 

this capacity since April 6, 2022  

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE:  

  The 2022 Census of Population reports the City of Muskogee having 36,738 

persons.  Of that total, (50.9%) were female and 18,707 (49.1%) were male.  Since 

2010, the total population dropped by 2,485 people with a decrease in female population 

by 0.9%.  Of the 36,738 residents in Muskogee, 51.63% of the City’s population is 

Caucasian, African Americans accounts for 15.06% of the total population, American 

Indians account for 15.15% of the population, Hispanic or Latino account for 8.3% of the 

total City’s population and the remaining population are either another race or are two 

or more races resulting in 12.29%.   

According to data provided from the Eastern Workforce Board from the 2014 US 

Census Bureau, the total number of jobs available throughout the City of Muskogee 

was 23,995; this data included working citizens and commuters into the City.  Of those 



jobs, there were 11,546 (48.1%) male workers and 12,449 (51.9%) female workers. Of 

the 23,995 workers, 16,436 (68.5%) were Caucasian, 2,583 (10.8%) were Black or 

African American, 3,410 (14.2%) were American Indian or Alaska Native, 246 (1.0%) 

were Asian, 15 (0.1%) were Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, and 1,305 (5.4%) 

were two or more races.  At this time, it is not possible to extract data, which specifies 

the working percentage of the total population within the City of Muskogee; therefore, 

that data cannot be identified by race. Updated information from the Eastern 

Workforce Board has not yet been made available for recent years for Muskogee City; 

however, various data is available specific to Muskogee County.  .   

 The job categories listed in the following tables were obtained by cross 

referencing the US Census Bureau, the Department of Labor and the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission.  The following is a list of the job categories and 

definitions used to complete the analysis for this Plan:  

Officials/Managers-Occupations in which employees set broad policies, exercise overall 

responsibility for execution of these policies, or direct individual departments or special 

phases of the City’s operations.  This category includes department heads, directors, 

assistant directors, superintendents, police and fire chiefs and inspectors, inspectors 

(construction, building, and safety), police and fire assistant chiefs, etc.  

Professionals-Occupations which require specialized and theoretical knowledge which is 

usually acquired through college training or through work experiences and other 

training which provides comparable knowledge.  Includes:  accountants, attorneys, 

personnel and labor relations workers, engineers, police and fire captains and police 

lieutenants.  



Technicians-Occupations which require a combination of basic scientific or technical 

knowledge and manual skill which can be obtained through specialized post-secondary 

school education or through equivalent on-the-job training.  Includes:  computer 

programmers and operators, drafters, survey and mapping technicians, police 

sergeants, and fire drivers  

Para-Professionals-Occupations in which workers perform some of the duties of a 

professional or technician in a supportive role, which usually require less formal 

training and/or experience normally required for professional or technical status.  

Includes: research assistants and recreation assistants.  

Protective Services (sworn):  Sworn-Occupations in which sworn workers are entrusted 

with public safety, security and protection from destructive forces.  Includes:  police 

officers and fire fighters.  

Protective Services (non-sworn):  Non-Sworn-Occupations in which provide assistance, 

guidance, or protection in a specific area.  Includes: animal control workers and other 

protective service workers.  

Administrative Support-Occupations in which workers are responsible for internal and 

external communication, recording and retrieval of data and/or information and other 

paperwork required in an office.  Includes:  bookkeepers, clerk-typists, customer 

service, payroll clerks, telephone operators, legal assistants, secretaries, receptionists, 

etc.  

Skilled Craft-Occupations in which workers perform duties which require manual skill 

and a thorough and comprehensive knowledge of the processes involved in the work 

which is acquired through on-the-job training and experience or through apprenticeship 



or other formal training programs.  Includes:  mechanics, equipment operators, first-

line supervisors of mechanics and water and sewage treatment plant operators.  

Service Maintenance-Occupations in which workers perform duties which result in or 

contribute to the comfort, convenience, hygiene or safety of the general public or which 

contribute to the upkeep and care of buildings, facilities or grounds of public property. 

Includes:  gardeners and groundskeepers, laborers, refuse workers, sewer workers, 

maintenance workers, and custodial personnel.     

Fiscal year 2021-2022, has 439 fulltime approved funded, budgeted positions.  

Table 1 provides an analysis of the City of Muskogee full-time workforce classified by 

job category, gender, and race/national origin for fulltime employees. The Table shows 

the workforce percentages only, which reflects the portion of people in each job category 

of a given gender and race/national origin.    

These figures are based upon the Human Resource Department’s current data as 

of June 30, 2023.  Employment numbers are for fulltime employees only. 

Table 1 B-White  D-Hispanic/Latino  F-American Indian/Alaskan Native  

C-Black/African American  E-Asian or Pacific Islander 

Job Category   Male Female 

  Total D B C E F D B C E F 

Officials/Managers 100% 7.84% 49.02% 3.92% 3.92% 7.84% 1.96% 19.61% 0 0 5.89% 

Professionals 100% 0 68.75% 15.63% 0 12.50% 0 1.56% 0 0 1.56% 

Technicians 100% 0 73.17% 4.88% 0 17.07% 0 4.88% 0 0 0 

Para-Professionals 100% 10% 5% 0 0 65% 0 0 5% 0 15% 

Protective Services  100% 0 68.57% 8.57% 0 18.57% 0 2.86% 0 0 1.43% 

Admin Support 100% 0 5.71% 0 0 2.86% 5.71% 65.72% 11.43% 2.86% 5.71% 

Skilled Craft 100% 0 54.90% 11.76% 0 13.73% 0 13.73% 1.96% 0 3.92% 

Service/Maintenance 100% 0 57.57% 15.15% 0 18.18% 0 4.55% 4.55% 0 0 

CONCLUSIONS:  

  From the statistics provided on City employees, the City has consistently 



maintained the number of minority and female persons holding jobs with the City of 

Muskogee within the past year.   While it is not the intent of the City to attain specific 

mathematical percentages of minority persons as employees within the City, it is 

desirable to have a diverse population of minority personnel.     

As of June 6, 2021 (FYE 2021), there were a total of 410 fulltime employees; 76 

females and 334 males.  Of those 76 females, there were 51 Caucasian, 8 Black/African 

American, 4 Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 12 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  Of 

those 334 males, there were 233 Caucasian, 40 Black/African American, 3 

Hispanic/Latino, and 58 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  

As of June 3, 2020, there were a total of 432 fulltime employees; 79 females and 

353 males.  Of those 79 females, there were 53 Caucasian, 8 Black/African American, 4 

Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 13 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  Of those 353 

males, there were 242 Caucasian, 42 Black/African American, 7 Hispanic/Latino, and 

62 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  

As of June 30, 2023 (FYE 2022), there were a total of 399 fulltime employees; 73 

females and 326 males.  Of those 73 females, there were 46 Caucasian, 11 

Black/African American, 3 Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 12 American Indian/Alaskan 

Native.  Of those 326 males, there were 216 Caucasian, 36 Black/African American, 6 

Hispanic/Latino, 2 Asian, and 66 American Indian/Alaskan Native.    

Although the City has increased recruiting mechanisms over the last few years 

to try and obtain minority applicants, there remains to be an overall shortage of 

minority employees in some departments within the City.  Beyond that, there is a 

continued lack of minority persons in professional, technician, male administrative 



support, and protective services positions with an underutilization for women, 

particularly in the skilled craft, service/maintenance and protective service positions.  

The City will continue to reach out to area colleges to try and obtain quality candidates 

for skilled positions, particularly in the professional and technical job categories.    

The City of Muskogee Human Resources Department is committed to including 

diversity in recruitment strategies.  Over the years, strategies included diverse images 

on the City website and social media pages, and continuing to engage with local civic 

groups and community-based organizations on outreach efforts. With the help of the 

City’s Media Relations Manager, we will ensure diverse images are utilized for 

recruiting measures and work towards putting together recruiting videos which include 

diverse employees working within the City.  The City of Muskogee will continue to be 

committed to advertise certain specific job notices in minority newspapers and/or 

magazines, including the Oklahoma Eagle.   

  The City of Muskogee has been dedicated to a proactive approach to reach out to 

minority firefighter applicants.  A committee was previously established which 

included a previous Fire Chief Mike O’Dell, Councilmember Derrick Reed, Former 

Mayor Wren Stratton, Officer Veronica Kennedy, previous Fire Chief Derrell Jones and 

the former Director of Bridges out of Poverty, Tom Martindale. The City’s initial plan, 

which Chief Jones considered ongoing prior to his departure, is to formulate ideas to 

reach out to the minority community to find out what the setbacks are to applying and 

get them excited to become Muskogee Firefighters.  Our current Fire Chief supports 

community outreach and has been trying to utilize minority firefighters to attract other 

minority applicants for fire service.   



 The City of Muskogee is committed to the hiring of minorities in law 

enforcement.  A committee has been established which includes Officer Veronica 

Kennedy, Mayor Marlon Coleman, Reverend Rodger Cutler, Reverend Leroy Walker, 

Deputy Chief Cotton and Perline Boyattia-Craig. This committee was established to 

formulate ideas to reach out to the minority community to find out what the setbacks 

are for obtaining diverse applicants and to get minorities excited to become Muskogee 

Police Officers.  The recruitment-to-hire process for police officers is a necessarily in 

depth and lengthy process. Candidates must be scrutinized which includes a polygraph 

examination as recommended by our liability carrier, a physical assessment, state 

required mental acuity examinations, stability and temperament examinations.   

The City is committed to utilizing current female and minority police officers, as 

well as the Community Resource Officer program to conduct recruiting programs 

throughout the community in an effort to substantially increase our minority officers.  

Using these individuals at high visibility programs, such as Night Hoops and other 

events in the community and depicting females and minorities on department 

recruiting literature will increase our efforts in acquiring police officers in these 

categories.  Recruitment efforts will include attending career fairs at NSU, Military 

Connection Events and Indian Capital Vo-Tech, as well as distributing recruitment 

information at a recruiting booth at various locations, utilizing LED advertising signs, 

posting videos on websites including FaceBook and YouTube, and distributing 

recruitment information at area sporting events and all area churches and community 

forums hosted by the CRO Program.  Advertisements may include listings in the 

Muskogee Phoenix, the Tulsa World, the Oklahoman, the National Minority Update, 



the Oklahoma Eagle, and other area newspapers and efforts will be made to broadcast 

on various radio stations in the area. 

A Community Academy to benefit Hispanic residents was also developed in 2017 

to connect and bring people together and help educate Muskogee’s Hispanic Community 

and help them gain confidence in law enforcement and build trust within the 

community.   

In addition, the City has had an internship program led by the Human 

Resources Director.  Northeastern State University, Indian Capital Technology Center, 

Connors State College and Bacone College have been participating schools in the 

internship Program.  The internship program is a great recruitment tool to attract 

minority job applicants after completion of the internship program.  After successful 

completion of the internship program, young professionals may be able to work with the 

City fulltime after graduation. In addition, the City has had discussions with OSU Tech 

and the University of Central Oklahoma (UC0) for possible internship programs.     

  Finally, the City has been committed with a partnership with the Gospel Rescue 

Mission and Desire to Change and implemented a pilot program for FY 2017 called 

“Getting to Work.”  Getting to Work was a program intended to help men and/or 

women with past felonies or experiencing poverty to gain employment and will help 

increase cultural diversity within the City.  Applicants from this program have been 

successfully hired by the City since implementation.    

  The City of Muskogee will continue to monitor the utilization of women and 

minorities within the above specified job categories and continue to partake in 

recruiting methods to attract females and minorities to these positions.    



  The Charter, Merit and Civil Service Systems of the City of Muskogee provide 

ample protection against intentional discriminatory practices.  Prior to the adoption of 

an affirmative action plan in 1975, there had not been a policy or rules established to 

encourage the active recruitment of minority persons as City employees.  The 

Affirmative Action Plan filled that void and presented a good faith effort of the City to 

improve this situation.  

IMPLEMENTATION:  

1.  The City of Muskogee will assure non-discriminatory recruiting of    

employees by taking the following steps.  Steps a, b, and c will be in    

practice as of the effective date of this Affirmative Action Plan.  

a. Employment notices are sent to these following organizations (if 

allowed by particular organization), and postings are also included on 

social media:     

Northeastern State University  

    Bacone College  

   Oklahoma Works  

    NAACP  

    Choctaw Nation  

    Greater Muskogee Area Chamber of Commerce  

b. Persons currently employed by the City of Muskogee are      

encouraged to refer qualified minority applicants for      

employment with the City.  

  c. All employment notices will specifically state the phrase “An     



Equal Opportunity Employer”.  

2.  It is the policy and practice of the City that appointment of persons to    

employment with the City be made in accordance with the Muskogee    

City Charter, Merit and Civil Service Systems.  The City Manager and    

all other personnel having the authority to hire employees shall be    

required to be familiar with this Affirmative Action Plan, to implement   

those provisions applicable to them and to comply with the spirit of the   

plan in all matters of employment.  

 3.  It is the adopted policy of the City of Muskogee that all employees will    

receive promotions in accordance with established rules and without    

regard to race, creed, color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, 

genetic information, veteran, religion or disability status.   

4.  It is the adopted policy of the City of Muskogee, in accordance with 

applicable laws, that the initial rate of pay, pay advancement and benefit 

programs for all employees shall be distributed and based on factors other 

than race, creed, color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, 

genetic information, veteran, religion or disability status.  Like pay shall 

be given for like work.  

 5.  All job descriptions, tests and testing procedures are reviewed and    

corrected should they contain any factors which are considered to be    

discriminatory to minorities and/or inconsistent with the policies of this 

Affirmative Action Plan.  

 6.  It is the policy of the City to encourage and, in some cases, require    



employee training and development through attendance of educational    

courses, seminars and conferences offered by the City.  

 7.  An Equal Employment Opportunity Policy Committee is established to 

review the Affirmative Action Plan of the City to provide assistance and 

advice regarding the Plan.  For the period from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 

2022, the following employees will serve on this Policy Committee:    

Mike Miller Mgmt City Manager 

Maggie Eaton Mgmt Director of Human Resources 

Emily Pippin Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Sonny Brown Mgmt. Public Works Department 

Alan Bemo Non-Mgmt. Police Department 

Judy Villalobos Non-Mgmt. City Manager’s Office 

Benita Hotema Mgmt. Finance Department 

 

8.  On an annual basis, Department and Division Heads will be reviewed    

and evaluated by the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer and the    

City Manager on their progress and performance in implementing the    

Plan.  

 9.  It is the policy of the Mayor and City Council that appointments to    

boards, commissions and committees will be made in the spirit and    

intent of this Affirmative Action Plan, and which will ultimately result    

in the adequate representation of minority groups.  

 10.  Records pertinent to equal employment opportunity and to the     



evaluation of this Affirmative Action Plan will be kept by the Equal    

Employment Opportunity Officer.  Department and Division Heads are   

trained in effective and non-discriminatory techniques relating to job    

interviews and employee selection. The Director of Human Resources 

(EEOC Officer) is required to determine that selection is based solely on 

job-related factors.  The Equal Employment Opportunity Officer will 

participate in employment interviews and evaluate questions asked of 

those interviewed during the initial hiring phases.  

 11.  Major employers in the Muskogee area, as well as employment     

agencies, schools, local news media and minority and human relations    

organizations have been informed of the city’s basic equal employment    

opportunity policy.  Internally, the City’s Affirmative Action Plan shall   

continue to the available in the Human Resources/Personnel Office.  

 12.  Changes in employee status, particularly transfers and terminations,    

will be documented.  

13.  Any applicant for employment, or current employee within the City who 

believes he or she has encountered discrimination because of race, color, 

religion, gender, national origin, sexual orientation, genetic information, 

age, veteran or disability status is encouraged to discuss the problem with 

the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer.  Should the applicant not 

receive satisfaction through the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer, 

they may petition (without fear of reprisal) the established Advisory 

Committee, who is an impartial body, for the review of his or her case.  



 14.  The Mayor of Muskogee has appointed an impartial body (EEO     

Advisory Committee) consisting of five members who will hear and    

decide upon complaints alleging discrimination of any individual who    

believes the decision of the City to not hire or promote said individual    

was based on a prohibited discriminatory reason.  The following     

employees will serve on this Advisory Committee:   

Emily Pippin Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Sonny Brown Mgmt Public Works Department 

Alan Bemo Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Judy Villalobos Non-Mgmt City Manager’s Office 

Benita Hotema Mgmt Finance Department 

 

15.  Such complaints will be processed as follows:  An applicant, employee or 

former employee claiming discrimination will notify the Equal 

Employment Opportunity (EEO) Officer of his complaint and submit in 

writing within ten (10) City Hall business days of the alleged 

discrimination.  The EEO Officer and the City Manager will review the 

complaint and decide within ten (10) City Hall business days whether the 

alleged discrimination occurred and whether the discrimination violates 

the policy or intent of the Policy stated in this Affirmative Action Plan.  

Appropriate action will be taken if discrimination has occurred.  Should 

the complainant not be satisfied with the decision rendered or with the 

corrective action, an appeal may be made to the impartial body appointed 



by the Mayor within ten (10) City Hall business days of the City 

Manager’s response.  The Equal Employment Opportunity Officer will 

transmit notice of the appeal to the impartial body, and a hearing will be 

held within ten (10) City Hall business days of receipt of this notice by the 

EEO Officer.  The committee will make a decision as to whether they feel 

the applicant/employee was discriminated against in regards to hire or 

promotion, explain the findings to the City Manager and make a 

recommended action to the City Manager for corrective action.    

16.  When an employee feels he/she was terminated due to discrimination the 

remedy shall be sought through the normal grievance procedure 

applicable to their employee group.   

17.  It is the adopted policy of the City that all transactions by the City with 

businesses and vendors will be made without regard for race, creed, color, 

gender, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, 

veteran, or disability status.  Every effort will be made to give minority 

vendors and businesses an equal opportunity to do business with the City.  

DISSEMINATION  

  All employees, including new employees, shall acknowledge in writing, receipt of 

this policy, an acknowledgement that the employee understands the policy and an 

agreement that the employee will utilize the complaint procedures contained in this 

policy, if the need arises.    

 

CITY:  



  Briefly and concisely, it is the stated intent of the City of Muskogee to select, 

employ, compensate, promote and discharge employees without regard to race, creed, 

color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran, religion 

or disability status.  The shade of a person’s skin or the ethnic ancestry identified by a 

person’s name shall not, in any way, constitute a barrier to employment with the City 

of Muskogee.  It is also the stated intent of the City that City services will be provided 

and City business transactions will be conducted in a non-discriminatory manner.  

 This policy is not intended to replace any rights afforded under any collective 

bargaining agreement or the Merit Rules of the City. In the case of any conflict between 

this policy and a collective bargaining agreement or the Merit Rules, the latter shall 

prevail.    

  THIS PLAN IS EFFECTIVE July 1, 2023, and will continue in full force and 

effect until rescinded by the Muskogee City Council.    

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 



Policy Receipt Acknowledgement 

  

I have read and been informed about the content, requirements, and expectations of the 

City of Muskogee’s Affirmative Action Plan dated July 1, 2023.  I have received a copy 

of the policy and agree to abide by the policy guidelines as a condition of my 

employment and my continuing employment with the City of Muskogee.  

I understand that if I have questions, at any time, regarding this policy, I will consult 

with my immediate supervisor or the Human Resources Department.  

Please read this policy carefully to ensure that you understand the policy before signing 

this document.  

  

     

 
 Employee Name        Signature                            

    

  

    

____________________________________ 

  

Date 



 
   

  

  

  

  

  

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLAN 

FOR THE 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 

 

 

 

 

MARLON COLEMAN, MAYOR 

DERRICK REED, DEPUTY MAYOR 

TRACI MCGEE, COUNCIL MEMBER 

JAIME STOUT, COUNCIL MEMBER 

ALEX REYNOLDS, COUNCIL MEMBER 

TRACY HOOS, COUNCIL MEMBER 

PATRICK CALE, COUNCIL MEMBER 

PERLIN BOYATTIA-CRAIG, COUNCIL MEMBER 

SHIRLEY HILTON-FLANARY, COUNCIL MEMBER 

 

 

 

 

July 2023 

(Revision number twenty-two) 

 

  

 



  

  

(Attach Resolution #1724) 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



I, Mike Miller, City Manager of the City of Muskogee, support the attached 

Affirmative Action Plan, approved February 1975, and updated ____________________, 

2024, (revision twenty-two), and intend for it to be fully implemented.  

  

  

___________________________________  

           MIKE MILLER  

           CITY MANAGER  

  

        

           ___________________________________  

           DATE  

  

  

I, Maggie Eaton, Director of Human Resources of the City of Muskogee, support 

the attached Affirmative Action Plan, approved February 1975, updated 

___________________, 2024, and intend for it to be fully implemented.  

  

   

  

           __________________________________  

           MAGGIE EATON 

           DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES  

  

       

___________________________________  

            DATE  

  

  

  



  

  

CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA 

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

  

LEGAL AUTHORITY:  

   Title 7, Civil Rights Act of 1964  

   Title 6, Civil Rights Act of 1964  

  Executive Order 11245 Executive Order 12067  

   Executive Order 11375 Executive Order 13672 

Public Law 90-202 Public Law 93-112, As Amended/Rehabilitation Act of 1973  

   American with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 

 Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008     

DEFINITION:  

Affirmative Action is defined as that action necessary to overcome policies and 

practices of discrimination and to ensure the absence of discrimination.  Affirmative 

Action is defined as an active effort to improve the opportunities in employment and/or 

education and to promote the rights or progress of members of minority groups, women 

and other disadvantaged persons.  

PURPOSE:  

To identify organizational components and job categories within the City of 

Muskogee’s workforce in which minorities and women are not represented in proportion 

to their availability in the labor force, and to devise and implement strategies to 

achieve equitable representation. The City of Muskogee is an equal opportunity 



employer and believes that every employee has the right to work in surroundings which 

are free from all forms of unlawful discrimination.  

POLICY:  

The City of Muskogee is committed to promoting affirmative action and to 

provide equal employment to all persons in all matters affecting City employment in 

accordance with Federal and State laws and guidelines.  It is the policy of the City of 

Muskogee, Oklahoma, to promote equal opportunity in regards to race, creed, color, 

gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran, religion or 

disability status in compliance with above stated legal authority and in the hiring and 

advancement process in all job classifications within the City.    

  It is not the intent of this policy to permit or require the lowering of bona fide job 

requirements or qualification standards in order to give preference to any employee or 

applicant for employment.  Selection, hiring, placement and promotion decisions will 

be based on valid requirements and criteria that are job related, essential and 

necessary functions of the job as set forth in classification descriptions and employment 

requirements.   

  The City of Muskogee will take affirmative action to insure that the City will:   

(1)  recruit, hire and promote all personnel without regard to race, creed, 

color, religion, gender, age, national origin, sexual orientation, genetic 

information, veteran or disability status except where gender, age or 

disability status is a bonafide occupational qualification;   

(2)  base decisions on employment so as to further the principle of equal 

employment opportunity;   



(3)  foster promotional decisions which are in accordance with principles of 

equal employment opportunity by imposing only valid requirements for 

promotional opportunities;   

(4)  require that all personnel actions such as compensation, benefits, 

transfers, layoffs, return from layoffs, City-sponsored training, 

education, tuition assistance and social and recreational programs be 

administered without regard to race, color, creed, religion, gender, age, 

national origin, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran or 

disability status;  

(5)  promote equal representation on boards and committees;   

(6)  instruct and direct all employees with supervisory and hiring authority 

to actively and steadfastly adhere to all principles and procedures 

herein established for the accomplishment of this Affirmative Action 

Plan; and   

(7)  promote equal opportunity with regard to all services provided by the 

City.    

  Pursuant to City Council Policy 3-6-4 (Americans with Disabilities Act), the City 

of Muskogee will provide, when necessary, reasonable accommodations to applicants’ 

and/or employees’ disabilities, when doing so will enable them to successfully perform 

the essential functions of the job for which they are qualified.   

  The City of Muskogee prohibits retaliatory actions against employees or 

applicants for employment, who make a charge of employment discrimination, testify, 

assist or participate, in any manner, in a hearing, proceeding or investigation of 



employment discrimination.   

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY OFFICER:  

  The Human Resources/Personnel Director of the City of Muskogee has been 

named as the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer and has, therefore, been 

designated as that person who shall develop and monitor the implementation of 

personnel procedures with which to guide the City’s Affirmative Action Plan.  This 

individual is charged with designing and implementing audit and reporting systems 

that will keep the City Manager and the City Council informed as of the status of Equal 

Employment Opportunity and Affirmative Action efforts.  

  Ms. Maggie Eaton is the Human Resources/Personnel Director and has served in 

this capacity since April 6, 2022  

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE:  

  The 2022 Census of Population reports the City of Muskogee having 36,738 

persons.  Of that total, (50.9%) were female and 18,707 (49.1%) were male.  Since 

2010, the total population dropped by 2,485 people with a decrease in female population 

by 0.9%.  Of the 36,738 residents in Muskogee, 51.63% of the City’s population is 

Caucasian, African Americans accounts for 15.06% of the total population, American 

Indians account for 15.15% of the population, Hispanic or Latino account for 8.3% of the 

total City’s population and the remaining population are either another race or are two 

or more races resulting in 12.29%.   

According to data provided from the Eastern Workforce Board from the 2014 US 

Census Bureau, the total number of jobs available throughout the City of Muskogee 

was 23,995; this data included working citizens and commuters into the City.  Of those 



jobs, there were 11,546 (48.1%) male workers and 12,449 (51.9%) female workers. Of 

the 23,995 workers, 16,436 (68.5%) were Caucasian, 2,583 (10.8%) were Black or 

African American, 3,410 (14.2%) were American Indian or Alaska Native, 246 (1.0%) 

were Asian, 15 (0.1%) were Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, and 1,305 (5.4%) 

were two or more races.  At this time, it is not possible to extract data, which specifies 

the working percentage of the total population within the City of Muskogee; therefore, 

that data cannot be identified by race. Updated information from the Eastern 

Workforce Board has not yet been made available for recent years for Muskogee City; 

however, various data is available specific to Muskogee County.  .   

 The job categories listed in the following tables were obtained by cross 

referencing the US Census Bureau, the Department of Labor and the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission.  The following is a list of the job categories and 

definitions used to complete the analysis for this Plan:  

Officials/Managers-Occupations in which employees set broad policies, exercise overall 

responsibility for execution of these policies, or direct individual departments or special 

phases of the City’s operations.  This category includes department heads, directors, 

assistant directors, superintendents, police and fire chiefs and inspectors, inspectors 

(construction, building, and safety), police and fire assistant chiefs, etc.  

Professionals-Occupations which require specialized and theoretical knowledge which is 

usually acquired through college training or through work experiences and other 

training which provides comparable knowledge.  Includes:  accountants, attorneys, 

personnel and labor relations workers, engineers, police and fire captains and police 

lieutenants.  



Technicians-Occupations which require a combination of basic scientific or technical 

knowledge and manual skill which can be obtained through specialized post-secondary 

school education or through equivalent on-the-job training.  Includes:  computer 

programmers and operators, drafters, survey and mapping technicians, police 

sergeants, and fire drivers  

Para-Professionals-Occupations in which workers perform some of the duties of a 

professional or technician in a supportive role, which usually require less formal 

training and/or experience normally required for professional or technical status.  

Includes: research assistants and recreation assistants.  

Protective Services (sworn):  Sworn-Occupations in which sworn workers are entrusted 

with public safety, security and protection from destructive forces.  Includes:  police 

officers and fire fighters.  

Protective Services (non-sworn):  Non-Sworn-Occupations in which provide assistance, 

guidance, or protection in a specific area.  Includes: animal control workers and other 

protective service workers.  

Administrative Support-Occupations in which workers are responsible for internal and 

external communication, recording and retrieval of data and/or information and other 

paperwork required in an office.  Includes:  bookkeepers, clerk-typists, customer 

service, payroll clerks, telephone operators, legal assistants, secretaries, receptionists, 

etc.  

Skilled Craft-Occupations in which workers perform duties which require manual skill 

and a thorough and comprehensive knowledge of the processes involved in the work 

which is acquired through on-the-job training and experience or through apprenticeship 



or other formal training programs.  Includes:  mechanics, equipment operators, first-

line supervisors of mechanics and water and sewage treatment plant operators.  

Service Maintenance-Occupations in which workers perform duties which result in or 

contribute to the comfort, convenience, hygiene or safety of the general public or which 

contribute to the upkeep and care of buildings, facilities or grounds of public property. 

Includes:  gardeners and groundskeepers, laborers, refuse workers, sewer workers, 

maintenance workers, and custodial personnel.     

Fiscal year 2021-2022, has 439 fulltime approved funded, budgeted positions.  

Table 1 provides an analysis of the City of Muskogee full-time workforce classified by 

job category, gender, and race/national origin for fulltime employees. The Table shows 

the workforce percentages only, which reflects the portion of people in each job category 

of a given gender and race/national origin.    

These figures are based upon the Human Resource Department’s current data as 

of June 30, 2023.  Employment numbers are for fulltime employees only. 

Table 1 B-White  D-Hispanic/Latino  F-American Indian/Alaskan Native  

C-Black/African American  E-Asian or Pacific Islander 

Job Category   Male Female 

  Total D B C E F D B C E F 

Officials/Managers 100% 7.84% 49.02% 3.92% 3.92% 7.84% 1.96% 19.61% 0 0 5.89% 

Professionals 100% 0 68.75% 15.63% 0 12.50% 0 1.56% 0 0 1.56% 

Technicians 100% 0 73.17% 4.88% 0 17.07% 0 4.88% 0 0 0 

Para-Professionals 100% 10% 5% 0 0 65% 0 0 5% 0 15% 

Protective Services  100% 0 68.57% 8.57% 0 18.57% 0 2.86% 0 0 1.43% 

Admin Support 100% 0 5.71% 0 0 2.86% 5.71% 65.72% 11.43% 2.86% 5.71% 

Skilled Craft 100% 0 54.90% 11.76% 0 13.73% 0 13.73% 1.96% 0 3.92% 

Service/Maintenance 100% 0 57.57% 15.15% 0 18.18% 0 4.55% 4.55% 0 0 

CONCLUSIONS:  

  From the statistics provided on City employees, the City has consistently 



maintained the number of minority and female persons holding jobs with the City of 

Muskogee within the past year.   While it is not the intent of the City to attain specific 

mathematical percentages of minority persons as employees within the City, it is 

desirable to have a diverse population of minority personnel.     

As of June 6, 2021 (FYE 2021), there were a total of 410 fulltime employees; 76 

females and 334 males.  Of those 76 females, there were 51 Caucasian, 8 Black/African 

American, 4 Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 12 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  Of 

those 334 males, there were 233 Caucasian, 40 Black/African American, 3 

Hispanic/Latino, and 58 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  

As of June 3, 2020, there were a total of 432 fulltime employees; 79 females and 

353 males.  Of those 79 females, there were 53 Caucasian, 8 Black/African American, 4 

Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 13 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  Of those 353 

males, there were 242 Caucasian, 42 Black/African American, 7 Hispanic/Latino, and 

62 American Indian/Alaskan Native.  

As of June 30, 2023 (FYE 2022), there were a total of 399 fulltime employees; 73 

females and 326 males.  Of those 73 females, there were 46 Caucasian, 11 

Black/African American, 3 Hispanic/Latino, 1 Asian and 12 American Indian/Alaskan 

Native.  Of those 326 males, there were 216 Caucasian, 36 Black/African American, 6 

Hispanic/Latino, 2 Asian, and 66 American Indian/Alaskan Native.    

Although the City has increased recruiting mechanisms over the last few years 

to try and obtain minority applicants, there remains to be an overall shortage of 

minority employees in some departments within the City.  Beyond that, there is a 

continued lack of minority persons in professional, technician, male administrative 



support, and protective services positions with an underutilization for women, 

particularly in the skilled craft, service/maintenance and protective service positions.  

The City will continue to reach out to area colleges to try and obtain quality candidates 

for skilled positions, particularly in the professional and technical job categories.    

The City of Muskogee Human Resources Department is committed to including 

diversity in recruitment strategies.  Over the years, strategies included diverse images 

on the City website and social media pages, and continuing to engage with local civic 

groups and community-based organizations on outreach efforts. With the help of the 

City’s Media Relations Manager, we will ensure diverse images are utilized for 

recruiting measures and work towards putting together recruiting videos which include 

diverse employees working within the City.  The City of Muskogee will continue to be 

committed to advertise certain specific job notices in minority newspapers and/or 

magazines, including the Oklahoma Eagle.   

  The City of Muskogee has been dedicated to a proactive approach to reach out to 

minority firefighter applicants.  A committee was previously established which 

included a previous Fire Chief Mike O’Dell, Councilmember Derrick Reed, Former 

Mayor Wren Stratton, Officer Veronica Kennedy, previous Fire Chief Derrell Jones and 

the former Director of Bridges out of Poverty, Tom Martindale. The City’s initial plan, 

which Chief Jones considered ongoing prior to his departure, is to formulate ideas to 

reach out to the minority community to find out what the setbacks are to applying and 

get them excited to become Muskogee Firefighters.  Our current Fire Chief supports 

community outreach and has been trying to utilize minority firefighters to attract other 

minority applicants for fire service.   



 The City of Muskogee is committed to the hiring of minorities in law 

enforcement.  A committee has been established which includes Officer Veronica 

Kennedy, Mayor Marlon Coleman, Reverend Rodger Cutler, Reverend Leroy Walker, 

Deputy Chief Cotton and Perline Boyattia-Craig. This committee was established to 

formulate ideas to reach out to the minority community to find out what the setbacks 

are for obtaining diverse applicants and to get minorities excited to become Muskogee 

Police Officers.  The recruitment-to-hire process for police officers is a necessarily in 

depth and lengthy process. Candidates must be scrutinized which includes a polygraph 

examination as recommended by our liability carrier, a physical assessment, state 

required mental acuity examinations, stability and temperament examinations.   

The City is committed to utilizing current female and minority police officers, as 

well as the Community Resource Officer program to conduct recruiting programs 

throughout the community in an effort to substantially increase our minority officers.  

Using these individuals at high visibility programs, such as Night Hoops and other 

events in the community and depicting females and minorities on department 

recruiting literature will increase our efforts in acquiring police officers in these 

categories.  Recruitment efforts will include attending career fairs at NSU, Military 

Connection Events and Indian Capital Vo-Tech, as well as distributing recruitment 

information at a recruiting booth at various locations, utilizing LED advertising signs, 

posting videos on websites including FaceBook and YouTube, and distributing 

recruitment information at area sporting events and all area churches and community 

forums hosted by the CRO Program.  Advertisements may include listings in the 

Muskogee Phoenix, the Tulsa World, the Oklahoman, the National Minority Update, 



the Oklahoma Eagle, and other area newspapers and efforts will be made to broadcast 

on various radio stations in the area. 

A Community Academy to benefit Hispanic residents was also developed in 2017 

to connect and bring people together and help educate Muskogee’s Hispanic Community 

and help them gain confidence in law enforcement and build trust within the 

community.   

In addition, the City has had an internship program led by the Human 

Resources Director.  Northeastern State University, Indian Capital Technology Center, 

Connors State College and Bacone College have been participating schools in the 

internship Program.  The internship program is a great recruitment tool to attract 

minority job applicants after completion of the internship program.  After successful 

completion of the internship program, young professionals may be able to work with the 

City fulltime after graduation. In addition, the City has had discussions with OSU Tech 

and the University of Central Oklahoma (UC0) for possible internship programs.     

  Finally, the City has been committed with a partnership with the Gospel Rescue 

Mission and Desire to Change and implemented a pilot program for FY 2017 called 

“Getting to Work.”  Getting to Work was a program intended to help men and/or 

women with past felonies or experiencing poverty to gain employment and will help 

increase cultural diversity within the City.  Applicants from this program have been 

successfully hired by the City since implementation.    

  The City of Muskogee will continue to monitor the utilization of women and 

minorities within the above specified job categories and continue to partake in 

recruiting methods to attract females and minorities to these positions.    



  The Charter, Merit and Civil Service Systems of the City of Muskogee provide 

ample protection against intentional discriminatory practices.  Prior to the adoption of 

an affirmative action plan in 1975, there had not been a policy or rules established to 

encourage the active recruitment of minority persons as City employees.  The 

Affirmative Action Plan filled that void and presented a good faith effort of the City to 

improve this situation.  

IMPLEMENTATION:  

1.  The City of Muskogee will assure non-discriminatory recruiting of    

employees by taking the following steps.  Steps a, b, and c will be in    

practice as of the effective date of this Affirmative Action Plan.  

a. Employment notices are sent to these following organizations (if 

allowed by particular organization), and postings are also included on 

social media:     

Northeastern State University  

    Bacone College  

   Oklahoma Works  

    NAACP  

    Choctaw Nation  

    Greater Muskogee Area Chamber of Commerce  

b. Persons currently employed by the City of Muskogee are      

encouraged to refer qualified minority applicants for      

employment with the City.  

  c. All employment notices will specifically state the phrase “An     



Equal Opportunity Employer”.  

2.  It is the policy and practice of the City that appointment of persons to    

employment with the City be made in accordance with the Muskogee    

City Charter, Merit and Civil Service Systems.  The City Manager and    

all other personnel having the authority to hire employees shall be    

required to be familiar with this Affirmative Action Plan, to implement   

those provisions applicable to them and to comply with the spirit of the   

plan in all matters of employment.  

 3.  It is the adopted policy of the City of Muskogee that all employees will    

receive promotions in accordance with established rules and without    

regard to race, creed, color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, 

genetic information, veteran, religion or disability status.   

4.  It is the adopted policy of the City of Muskogee, in accordance with 

applicable laws, that the initial rate of pay, pay advancement and benefit 

programs for all employees shall be distributed and based on factors other 

than race, creed, color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, 

genetic information, veteran, religion or disability status.  Like pay shall 

be given for like work.  

 5.  All job descriptions, tests and testing procedures are reviewed and    

corrected should they contain any factors which are considered to be    

discriminatory to minorities and/or inconsistent with the policies of this 

Affirmative Action Plan.  

 6.  It is the policy of the City to encourage and, in some cases, require    



employee training and development through attendance of educational    

courses, seminars and conferences offered by the City.  

 7.  An Equal Employment Opportunity Policy Committee is established to 

review the Affirmative Action Plan of the City to provide assistance and 

advice regarding the Plan.  For the period from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 

2022, the following employees will serve on this Policy Committee:    

Mike Miller Mgmt City Manager 

Maggie Eaton Mgmt Director of Human Resources 

Emily Pippin Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Sonny Brown Mgmt. Public Works Department 

Alan Bemo Non-Mgmt. Police Department 

Judy Villalobos Non-Mgmt. City Manager’s Office 

Benita Hotema Mgmt. Finance Department 

 

8.  On an annual basis, Department and Division Heads will be reviewed    

and evaluated by the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer and the    

City Manager on their progress and performance in implementing the    

Plan.  

 9.  It is the policy of the Mayor and City Council that appointments to    

boards, commissions and committees will be made in the spirit and    

intent of this Affirmative Action Plan, and which will ultimately result    

in the adequate representation of minority groups.  

 10.  Records pertinent to equal employment opportunity and to the     



evaluation of this Affirmative Action Plan will be kept by the Equal    

Employment Opportunity Officer.  Department and Division Heads are   

trained in effective and non-discriminatory techniques relating to job    

interviews and employee selection. The Director of Human Resources 

(EEOC Officer) is required to determine that selection is based solely on 

job-related factors.  The Equal Employment Opportunity Officer will 

participate in employment interviews and evaluate questions asked of 

those interviewed during the initial hiring phases.  

 11.  Major employers in the Muskogee area, as well as employment     

agencies, schools, local news media and minority and human relations    

organizations have been informed of the city’s basic equal employment    

opportunity policy.  Internally, the City’s Affirmative Action Plan shall   

continue to the available in the Human Resources/Personnel Office.  

 12.  Changes in employee status, particularly transfers and terminations,    

will be documented.  

13.  Any applicant for employment, or current employee within the City who 

believes he or she has encountered discrimination because of race, color, 

religion, gender, national origin, sexual orientation, genetic information, 

age, veteran or disability status is encouraged to discuss the problem with 

the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer.  Should the applicant not 

receive satisfaction through the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer, 

they may petition (without fear of reprisal) the established Advisory 

Committee, who is an impartial body, for the review of his or her case.  



 14.  The Mayor of Muskogee has appointed an impartial body (EEO     

Advisory Committee) consisting of five members who will hear and    

decide upon complaints alleging discrimination of any individual who    

believes the decision of the City to not hire or promote said individual    

was based on a prohibited discriminatory reason.  The following     

employees will serve on this Advisory Committee:   

Emily Pippin Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Sonny Brown Mgmt Public Works Department 

Alan Bemo Non-Mgmt Police Department 

Judy Villalobos Non-Mgmt City Manager’s Office 

Benita Hotema Mgmt Finance Department 

 

15.  Such complaints will be processed as follows:  An applicant, employee or 

former employee claiming discrimination will notify the Equal 

Employment Opportunity (EEO) Officer of his complaint and submit in 

writing within ten (10) City Hall business days of the alleged 

discrimination.  The EEO Officer and the City Manager will review the 

complaint and decide within ten (10) City Hall business days whether the 

alleged discrimination occurred and whether the discrimination violates 

the policy or intent of the Policy stated in this Affirmative Action Plan.  

Appropriate action will be taken if discrimination has occurred.  Should 

the complainant not be satisfied with the decision rendered or with the 

corrective action, an appeal may be made to the impartial body appointed 



by the Mayor within ten (10) City Hall business days of the City 

Manager’s response.  The Equal Employment Opportunity Officer will 

transmit notice of the appeal to the impartial body, and a hearing will be 

held within ten (10) City Hall business days of receipt of this notice by the 

EEO Officer.  The committee will make a decision as to whether they feel 

the applicant/employee was discriminated against in regards to hire or 

promotion, explain the findings to the City Manager and make a 

recommended action to the City Manager for corrective action.    

16.  When an employee feels he/she was terminated due to discrimination the 

remedy shall be sought through the normal grievance procedure 

applicable to their employee group.   

17.  It is the adopted policy of the City that all transactions by the City with 

businesses and vendors will be made without regard for race, creed, color, 

gender, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, 

veteran, or disability status.  Every effort will be made to give minority 

vendors and businesses an equal opportunity to do business with the City.  

DISSEMINATION  

  All employees, including new employees, shall acknowledge in writing, receipt of 

this policy, an acknowledgement that the employee understands the policy and an 

agreement that the employee will utilize the complaint procedures contained in this 

policy, if the need arises.    

 

CITY:  



  Briefly and concisely, it is the stated intent of the City of Muskogee to select, 

employ, compensate, promote and discharge employees without regard to race, creed, 

color, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, genetic information, veteran, religion 

or disability status.  The shade of a person’s skin or the ethnic ancestry identified by a 

person’s name shall not, in any way, constitute a barrier to employment with the City 

of Muskogee.  It is also the stated intent of the City that City services will be provided 

and City business transactions will be conducted in a non-discriminatory manner.  

 This policy is not intended to replace any rights afforded under any collective 

bargaining agreement or the Merit Rules of the City. In the case of any conflict between 

this policy and a collective bargaining agreement or the Merit Rules, the latter shall 

prevail.    

  THIS PLAN IS EFFECTIVE July 1, 2023, and will continue in full force and 

effect until rescinded by the Muskogee City Council.    

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 



Policy Receipt Acknowledgement 

  

I have read and been informed about the content, requirements, and expectations of the 

City of Muskogee’s Affirmative Action Plan dated July 1, 2023.  I have received a copy 

of the policy and agree to abide by the policy guidelines as a condition of my 

employment and my continuing employment with the City of Muskogee.  

I understand that if I have questions, at any time, regarding this policy, I will consult 

with my immediate supervisor or the Human Resources Department.  

Please read this policy carefully to ensure that you understand the policy before signing 

this document.  

  

     

 
 Employee Name        Signature                            

    

  

    

____________________________________ 

  

Date 



   
Public Works Committee 5.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Mike Miller, City Manager  Initiator: Dennis Read,

Treasurer
Department: Finance
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of Resolution No. 2977 amending Appendix A.--Schedule of Fees and Charges, to
the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances (Wholesale Customers Water Rates), or take other necessary
action. (Mike Miller)

BACKGROUND:
  
The service area of Wholesale Water Customers is located entirely outside the city limits of the City of
Muskogee.  Each Wholesale Customer enters into a contract with the City, with the terms reviewed
annually.  The cost of producing and delivering water has increased since the last price point in 2018,
and the City is currently selling water to Wholesale Water Customers at a loss. A Wholesale Customer
is defined as a municipality as defined by Article 18 of the Oklahoma Constitution and Title 11 of the
Oklahoma Statutes, a rural water district as defined in Title 82, Oklahoma Statutes, or a private water
utility whose rates are regulated by the Oklahoma Corporation Commission or a private water
corporation. This Amendment proposes a pricing amendment to match the City's actual cost of the
production and delivery of water to Wholesale Water Customers.

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Resolution.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 2977 



RESOLUTION NO. 2977 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AMENDMENT TO APPENDIX A OF THE 
MUSKOGEE CITY CODE PERTAINING TO SCHEDULES OF FEES AND CHARGES 
PER ATTACHED LIST (WHOLESALE CUSTOMER WATER RATES). 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Muskogee has prepared the City’s Code of Ordinances containing 
all ordinances adopted by the City; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Muskogee has prepared an Amendment to Appendix A to the City 
Code, pertaining to fees and charges as per attached; 

WHEREAS, the rate charged for wholesale customers is based solely upon the cost to 
produce and deliver the water; and  

WHEREAS, the rate charged for wholesale water is currently included in Appendix A of 
the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 
OKLAHOMA:   

 

 THAT Amendment to Appendix A of the Muskogee City code pertaining to schedule of 
City fees and charges, as per attached list, is hereby approved and adopted; and 

 

 THAT the public is hereby notified of adoption of amended fee schedule and that copies 
of the amended fee schedule are available for review in the office of the City Clerk; and 

 

 THAT the City Clerk shall cause to be filed one copy of this resolution with the office of 
the County Clerk of Muskogee County; and 

 

 THAT the City Clerk shall cause one copy of this resolution to be filed with the Law 
Library of Muskogee County; and 

 

 THAT the City Clerk shall keep at least one (1) copy of amended fee schedule to the 
Code of Ordinances in the office of the City Clerk for public use, inspection, and examination. 



  

ADOPTED this _____ day of ______________, 2024, by the City Council of the City of 
Muskogee. 

                    

                ________________________________  

   MARLON COLEMAN, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 

 

Approved as to form and legality this ____ day of __________________, 2024. 

 

 

________________________________ 

Katrina Bodenhamer, City Attorney 

 

 

  



APPENDIX A – SCHEDULE OF FEES AND CHARGES 

WATER SERVICE CHARGES 

RATES GENERALLY 

 

Code Section     
82-71 (b)     
     

Wholesale Customer:  

The service area of the wholesale customer shall be located entirely outside the City limits of 

the City of Muskogee. Each wholesale customer shall enter into a contract with the City. The 

contract shall be reviewed bi-annually. At its sole option, the City Council shall determine if 

the contract is to be extended. Wholesale customer is defined as a municipality as defined by 

Article 18 of the Oklahoma Constitution and  Title 11 of the Oklahoma Statutes, a rural water 

district as defined in Title 82 , Oklahoma Statutes, or a private water utility whose rates are 

regulated by the Oklahoma Corporation Commission or a private water corporation.  

 
Rate for wholesale water 
 

 
100 cubic feet 

 
$2.06 

 
Excess Usage Rate. Wholesale customer will pay to the City two (2) times the amount of the 
“BASE RATE” (2 x base rate) per 100 cubic feet of water usage over the maximum/month 
usage specified in the agreement. 
 

 
 



   
Public Works Committee 6.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Avery Rigney, Public Works  Initiator: Jennifer Sharp,

Admin II
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Receive report on the upcoming annual Azalea Cleanup, to take place March 20th through March 23rd,
or take other necessary action. (Mike Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
The Azalea Cleanup is an annual event created for the purpose of cleaning up the City of Muskogee
before the Azalea Festival in April. 

The Azalea Cleanup is an exceptional way for the residents of Muskogee to keep their City clean and
beautiful. Residents have a choice of where they can clean up. The residents, along with several local
businesses, community civic groups, and other associations partner together with the City to promote
our City's public image and take matters into their own hands to fight litter and trash in their
neighborhoods. To register and receive all necessary equipment for cleaning, residents will be able to
call the City's stormwater division at 918-684-6340 or email shenderson@muskogeeonline.org.
Equipment to be handed out includes safety gear such as vests and gloves, as well as bags and grabbers
to make the cleanup as efficient as possible. 

Muskogee residents can also take advantage of our free dump days during the event. The City will be
accepting brush and limbs at the usual location of 40th and Denver, at Hatbox Sports Complex. The
City will also accept trash waste at our Material Yard located at 1503 S Cherokee. Hours for these
locations are 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. This is different from previous years when the Muskogee
Community Landfill operated by Waste Management accepted waste into their sight; instead, this year
we will accept the trash waste at our previously mentioned Material Yard and take it to the landfill
ourselves. This is due to construction at the landfill and will revert to the usual locations after this event.
A reminder, this is free to the public and all they are required to do is present a City of Muskogee water
bill and their Driver's License. 

This is a great event that has had tremendous success for many, many years in our community. Staff
typically presents a report with the results of the event; however, this year we want to take the
opportunity to further publicize the event on this platform and show the many opportunities the City
offers for trash and debris removal. The City also provides each resident who pays a water/trash bill two
free bulk waste pickups per year, broken down into one per six months. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report. 



Receive report. 
 

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Public Works Committee 7.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Mike Stewart, Public Works 
Initiator: Marsha Wiseman, Public Works Strategic Support Admin
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source: Marsha Wiseman 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of the use of the Muskogee-Davis Regional Airport for a TORA! TORA! TORA!
event sponsored by Davis Field Aviation, our FBO operator at the airport, with financial and
promotional support from Visit Muskogee, or take other necessary action.  (Mike Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
TORA! TORA! TORA! is a three-day practice of World War II-style aircraft.  The public will be
invited to view these planes in flight practice on Saturday, March 16th, from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. 
The U.S. Air Force Auxiliary Civil Air Patrol will assist Davis Field Aviation with this event.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve use of Muskogee-Davis Regional Airport for this 2024 TORA! TORA! TORA! practice event.
 

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Public Works Committee 8.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Initiator: Kristal Keim, PW Office Admin II
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of the purchase of 112 two-yard dumpsters from Wastequip, for a total amount of
$53,483.00, via the Sourcewell Purchasing Agreement, RFP #040621, or take other necessary action.
(Mike Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
Two-yard dumpsters are trash containers used by commercial businesses in the City of Muskogee. Over
the course of time, the dumpsters are damaged or aged to a point where they are no longer useful due to
leaks or lack of structural integrity. The Street Department will repair dumpsters that are in fair shape.
However, some cannot be repaired to a usable condition. 

The City can purchase these from Sourcewell, a cooperative purchasing agreement.

It benefits the City and customers to periodically replace defective dumpsters. It provides a better public
image by having a dumpster in good condition, as well as protects the stormwater system from leakage
from the containers.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
212-6050-432.64-50

Attachments
quote 
Sourcewell 



WQ-10304784

PHONE: 800-643-8713 FAX: 615-274-2636

395 South Main Street, Eagleville, TN, 37060

Pricing is based on your anticipated Order prior to the expiration of this Quote, including product specifications, quantities
and timing. Any differences to your Order may result in different pricing, freight or other costs. Due to volatility in
petrochemical, steel and related Product material markets, actual prices and freight, are subject to change. We reserve
the right, by providing notice to you at any time before beginning Product manufacturing, to increase the price of the
Product(s) to reflect any increase in the cost to us which is due to any factor beyond our control (such as, without
limitation, any increase in the costs of labor, materials, or other costs of manufacture or supply). Unless otherwise stated,
materials and container sizes indicated on sales literature, invoices, price lists, quotations and delivery tickets are nominal

Additional
Information

Our Quote serves as an offer to provide Products and/or services at the quantities and prices shown and is a good faith
estimate, based on our understanding of your needs. By signing below, you indicate your acceptance of our offer which is
expressly subject to the Wastequip Terms & Conditions of Sale (“Wastequip’s Terms””) located at: 

, as of the date set forth in Section 1(b) of the WQ T&C, which are madehttps://www.wastequip.com/terms-conditions-sale
a part of this Quote. Wastequip’s Terms may be updated from time to time and are available by hard copy upon request.
Any changes or deviations to the terms of this Quote, including any different terms in an Order submitted by you, must be
agreed upon in writing by both parties.

Additional Terms

FULL TRUCKLOAD FREIGHT RATE. 
IT WILL BE THE CUSTOMER'S RESPONSIBILITY TO UNLOAD AT DESTINATION.

Special Instructions

$53,483.00Grand Total

$0.00Tax

$1,515.00Shipping

$51,968.00Subtotal

FOB OriginShipping Terms

Net 30 Days if credit has been establishedPayment Terms

WQ-10304784
Please Reference Quote Number on all
Purchase Orders

Quote Number

3/21/2024Expiration Date

3/6/2024Created Date

cwalker@wastequip.comSalesperson Email

Colt WalkerSalesperson

Quick Ship

1503 S Cherokee St
Muskogee, OK 74403
USA

Ship To

City of MuskogeeShip To Name

(918) 684-6333Phone

kkeim@muskogeeonline.orgEmail

301 S Cherokee St
Muskogee, OK 74403-5424
USA

Bill To

City of MuskogeeBill To Name

Kristal KeimContact Name

Sell To:

Quote Information

Product Product Description Quantity Sales Price Total Price

Container - TN - 153926 2 YD REAR LOAD CONTAINER "TEEM" (Bolt On Casters) 112.00 $464.00 $51,968.00

Special Instructions

Additional Information

https://www.wastequip.com/terms-conditions-sale


WQ-10304784

PHONE: 800-643-8713 FAX: 615-274-2636

395 South Main Street, Eagleville, TN, 37060

Please Reference Quote Number on all Purchase Orders

Accepted By:        ______________________________________________________

Company Name:    ______________________________________________________

Date:                    ______________________________________________________

Purchase Order:    ______________________________________________________

Sourcewell-Pricing & Product offerings are based on the Sourcewell Co-Operative Contract with Wastequip, LLC
(#040621-WQI, eff. 06/02/2021) and such Contract terms & conditions are incorporated herein by reference. Pricing &
Product (& related) changes may occur at any time with proper documentation, & subject to Sourcewell approval;
therefore, offerings may change without written prior notice. Wastequip Product Limited Warranties, Disclaimers,
Limitation of Liability & Remedies, & Limited Warranty Provisions apply to all purchases thereunder.

Special Contract
Information

sizes and representations – actual volume, Products and materials are subject to manufacturing and commercial variation
and Wastequip’s practices, and may vary from nominal sizes and materials. All prices are in US dollars; this Quote may
not include all applicable taxes, brokerage fees or duties. If customer is not tax exempt, final tax calculations are subject to
change.

Signatures



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           1 
 

 
 

Solicitation Number: RFP #040621 
 

CONTRACT 
 
 
This Contract is between Sourcewell, 202 12th Street Northeast, P.O. Box 219, Staples, MN 
56479 (Sourcewell) and Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC, 6525 Morrison Blvd., Suite 
300, Charlotte, NC  28211 (Vendor). 

  
Sourcewell is a State of Minnesota local government agency and service cooperative created 
under the laws of the State of Minnesota (Minnesota Statutes Section 123A.21) that offers 
cooperative procurement solutions to government entities. Participation is open to federal, 
state/province, and municipal governmental entities, higher education, K-12 education, 
nonprofit, tribal government, and other public entities located in the United States and Canada. 
Sourcewell issued a public solicitation for Bulk Solid Waste and Recycling Equipment from 
which Vendor was  awarded a contract.     

  
Vendor desires to contract with Sourcewell to provide equipment, products, or services to 
Sourcewell and the entities that access Sourcewell’s cooperative purchasing contracts 
(Participating Entities).  

 
1. TERM OF CONTRACT 

 
A. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Contract is effective upon the date of the final signature below.  
 
B. EXPIRATION DATE AND EXTENSION. This Contract expires June 2, 2025, unless it is cancelled 
sooner pursuant to Article 22. This Contract may be extended up to one additional one-year 
period upon request of Sourcewell and with written agreement by Vendor. 
 
C. SURVIVAL OF TERMS. Articles 11 through 14 survive the expiration or cancellation of this 
Contract.  
 

2. EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS, OR SERVICES 
 
A. EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS, OR SERVICES. Vendor will provide the Equipment, Products, or 
Services as stated in its Proposal submitted under the Solicitation Number listed above. 
Vendor’s Equipment, Products, or Services Proposal (Proposal) is attached and incorporated 
into this Contract.    
 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           2 
 

All Equipment and Products provided under this Contract must be new/current model.  Vendor 
may offer close-out or refurbished Equipment or Products if they are clearly indicated in 
Vendor’s product and pricing list. Unless agreed to by the Participating Entities in advance, 
Equipment or Products must be delivered as operational to the Participating Entity’s site.     
 
This Contract offers an indefinite quantity of sales, and while substantial volume is anticipated, 
sales and sales volume are not guaranteed.   
 
B. WARRANTY. Vendor warrants that all Equipment, Products, and Services furnished are free 
from liens and encumbrances, and are free from defects in design, materials, and workmanship. 
In addition, Vendor warrants the Equipment, Products, and Services are suitable for and will 
perform in accordance with the ordinary use for which they are intended. Vendor’s dealers and 
distributors must agree to assist the Participating Entity in reaching a resolution in any dispute 
over warranty terms with the manufacturer.  Any manufacturer’s warranty that is effective past 
the expiration of the Vendor’s warranty will be passed on to the Participating Entity.   
 
C. DEALERS, DISTRIBUTORS, AND/OR RESELLERS. Upon Contract execution, Vendor will 
make available to Sourcewell a means to validate or authenticate Vendor’s affiliates, authorized 
dealers, distributors, and/or resellers relative to the Equipment, Products, and Services related 
to this Contract. This list may be updated from time-to-time and is incorporated into this 
Contract by reference. It is the Vendor’s responsibility to ensure Sourcewell receives the most 
current version of this list.  
 

3. PRICING 
 
All Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract will be priced as stated in Vendor’s 
Proposal.  
 
When providing pricing quotes to Participating Entities, all pricing quoted must reflect a 
Participating Entity’s total cost of acquisition. This means that the quoted cost is for delivered 
Equipment, Products, and Services that are operational for their intended purpose, and 
includes all costs to the Participating Entity’s requested delivery location.   
 
Regardless of the payment method chosen by the Participating Entity, the total cost associated 
with any purchase option of the Equipment, Products, or Services must always be disclosed in 
the pricing quote to the applicable Participating Entity at the time of purchase.   
 
A. SHIPPING AND SHIPPING COSTS. All delivered Equipment and Products must be properly 
packaged. Damaged Equipment and Products may be rejected. If the damage is not readily 
apparent at the time of delivery, Vendor must permit the Equipment and Products to be 
returned within a reasonable time at no cost to Sourcewell or its Participating Entities. 
Participating Entities reserve the right to inspect the Equipment and Products at a reasonable 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           3 
 

time after delivery where circumstances or conditions prevent effective inspection of the 
Equipment and Products at the time of delivery. 
   
Vendor must arrange for and pay for the return shipment on Equipment and Products that arrive 
in a defective or inoperable condition.  
 
Sourcewell may declare the Vendor in breach of this Contract if the Vendor intentionally 
delivers substandard or inferior Equipment or Products. In the event of the delivery of 
nonconforming Equipment and Products, the Participating Entity will notify the Vendor as soon 
as possible and the Vendor will replace nonconforming Equipment and Products with 
conforming Equipment and Products that are acceptable to the Participating Entity. 
 
B. SALES TAX. Each Participating Entity is responsible for supplying the Vendor with valid tax-
exemption certification(s). When ordering, a Participating Entity must indicate if it is a tax-
exempt entity.  
 
C. HOT LIST PRICING. At any time during this Contract, Vendor may offer a specific selection 
of Equipment, Products, or Services at discounts greater than those listed in the Contract. 
When Vendor determines it will offer Hot List Pricing, it must be submitted electronically to 
Sourcewell in a line-item format. Equipment, Products, or Services may be added or removed 
from the Hot List at any time through a Sourcewell Price and Product Change Form as defined 
in Article 4 below.   
 
Hot List program and pricing may also be used to discount and liquidate close-out and 
discontinued Equipment and Products as long as those close-out and discontinued items are 
clearly identified as such. Current ordering process and administrative fees apply. Hot List 
Pricing must be published and made available to all Participating Entities. 
 

4. PRODUCT AND PRICING CHANGE REQUESTS 
 

Vendor may request Equipment, Product, or Service changes, additions, or deletions at any 
time. All requests must be made in writing by submitting a signed Sourcewell Price and Product 
Change Request Form to the assigned Sourcewell Contract Administrator. This form is available 
from the assigned Sourcewell Contract Administrator. At a minimum, the request must:  
 

 Identify the applicable Sourcewell contract number; 
 Clearly specify the requested change; 
 Provide sufficient detail to justify the requested change; 
 Individually list all Equipment, Products, or Services affected by the requested change, 

along with the requested change (e.g., addition, deletion, price change); and 
 Include a complete restatement of pricing documentation in Microsoft Excel with the 

effective date of the modified pricing, or product addition or deletion. The new pricing 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           4 
 

restatement must include all Equipment, Products, and Services offered, even for those 
items where pricing remains unchanged. 

 
A fully executed Sourcewell Price and Product Request Form will become an amendment 
to this Contract and be incorporated by reference.  

 
5. PARTICIPATION, CONTRACT ACCESS, AND PARTICIPATING ENTITY REQUIREMENTS 

  
A. PARTICIPATION. Sourcewell’s cooperative contracts are available and open to public and 
nonprofit entities across the United States and Canada; such as federal, state/province, 
municipal, K-12 and higher education, tribal government, and other public entities.   
 
The benefits of this Contract should be available to all Participating Entities that can legally 
access the Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract. A Participating Entity’s 
authority to access this Contract is determined through its cooperative purchasing, interlocal, 
or joint powers laws. Any entity accessing benefits of this Contract will be considered a Service 
Member of Sourcewell during such time of access. Vendor understands that a Participating 
Entity’s use of this Contract is at the Participating Entity’s sole convenience and Participating 
Entities reserve the right to obtain like Equipment, Products, or Services from any other source. 
 
Vendor is responsible for familiarizing its sales and service forces with Sourcewell contract use 
eligibility requirements and documentation and will encourage potential participating entities 
to join Sourcewell.  Sourcewell reserves the right to add and remove Participating Entities to its 
roster during the term of this Contract.   
 
B. PUBLIC FACILITIES. Vendor’s employees may be required to perform work at government-
owned facilities, including schools. Vendor’s employees and agents must conduct themselves in 
a professional manner while on the premises, and in accordance with Participating Entity 
policies and procedures, and all applicable laws.   
 

6. PARTICIPATING ENTITY USE AND PURCHASING 
 
A. ORDERS AND PAYMENT. To access the contracted Equipment, Products, or Services under 
this Contract, a Participating Entity must clearly indicate to Vendor that it intends to access this 
Contract; however, order flow and procedure will be developed jointly between Sourcewell and 
Vendor. Typically, a Participating Entity will issue an order directly to Vendor. If a Participating 
Entity issues a purchase order, it may use its own forms, but the purchase order should clearly 
note the applicable Sourcewell contract number. All Participating Entity orders under this 
Contract must be issued prior to expiration of this Contract; however, Vendor performance, 
Participating Entity payment, and any applicable warranty periods or other Vendor or 
Participating Entity obligations may extend beyond the term of this Contract.  
 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           5 
 

Vendor’s acceptable forms of payment are included in Attachment A.  Participating Entities will 
be solely responsible for payment and Sourcewell will have no liability for any unpaid invoice of 
any Participating Entity.   
 
B. ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS/PARTICIPATING ADDENDUM. Additional terms and 
conditions to a purchase order, or other required transaction documentation, may be 
negotiated between a Participating Entity and Vendor, such as job or industry-specific 
requirements, legal requirements (e.g., affirmative action or immigration status requirements), 
or specific local policy requirements. Some Participating Entitles may require the use of a 
Participating Addendum; the terms of which will be worked out directly between the 
Participating Entity and the Vendor.  Any negotiated additional terms and conditions must 
never be less favorable to the Participating Entity than what is contained in this Contract. 
 
C. SPECIALIZED SERVICE REQUIREMENTS. In the event that the Participating Entity requires 
service or specialized performance requirements (such as e-commerce specifications, 
specialized delivery requirements, or other specifications and requirements) not addressed in 
this Contract, the Participating Entity and the Vendor may enter into a separate, standalone 
agreement, apart from this Contract. Sourcewell, including its agents and employees, will not 
be made a party to a claim for breach of such agreement.   
 
D. TERMINATION OF ORDERS. Participating Entities may terminate an order, in whole or 
in part, immediately upon notice to Vendor in the event of any of the following events:   
 

1. The Participating Entity fails to receive funding or appropriation from its governing body 
at levels sufficient to pay for the goods to be purchased; 
2. Federal,  state, or provincial laws or regulations prohibit the purchase or change the 
Participating Entity’s requirements; or 
3. Vendor commits any material breach of this Contract or the additional terms agreed to 
between the Vendor and a Participating Entity. 

 
E. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE. The governing law and venue for any action related to a 
Participating Entity’s order will be determined by the Participating Entity making the purchase.   
 

7. CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 
A. PRIMARY ACCOUNT REPRESENTATIVE. Vendor will assign an Account Representative to 
Sourcewell for this Contract and must provide prompt notice to Sourcewell if that person is 
changed. The Account Representative will be responsible for: 
  

 Maintenance and management of this Contract; 
 Timely response to all Sourcewell and Participating Entity inquiries; and 
 Business reviews to Sourcewell and Participating Entities, if applicable. 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           6 
 

 
B. BUSINESS REVIEWS. Vendor must perform a minimum of one business review with 
Sourcewell per contract year. The business review will cover sales to Participating Entities, 
pricing and contract terms, administrative fees, supply issues, customer issues, and any other 
necessary information.  
 

8. REPORT ON CONTRACT SALES ACTIVITY AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEE PAYMENT 
 
A. CONTRACT SALES ACTIVITY REPORT. Each calendar quarter, Vendor must provide a contract 
sales activity report (Report) to the Sourcewell Contract Administrator assigned to this 
Contract. A Report must be provided regardless of the number or amount of sales during that 
quarter (i.e., if there are no sales, Vendor must submit a report indicating no sales were made).  
 
The Report must contain the following fields: 
 

 Customer Name (e.g., City of Staples Highway Department); 
 Customer Physical Street Address; 
 Customer City; 
 Customer State/Province; 
 Customer Zip Code; 
 Customer Contact Name; 
 Customer Contact Email Address; 
 Customer Contact Telephone Number; 
 Sourcewell Assigned Entity/Participating Entity Number; 
 Item Purchased Description; 
 Item Purchased Price;  
 Sourcewell Administrative Fee Applied; and 
 Date Purchase was invoiced/sale was recognized as revenue by Vendor. 

 
B. ADMINISTRATIVE FEE. In consideration for the support and services provided by Sourcewell, 
the Vendor will pay an administrative fee to Sourcewell on all Equipment, Products, and 
Services provided to Participating Entities. The Administrative Fee must be included in, and not 
added to, the pricing. Vendor may not charge Participating Entities more than the contracted 
price to offset the Administrative Fee. 
 
The Vendor will submit payment to Sourcewell for the percentage of administrative fee stated 
in the Proposal multiplied by the total sales of all Equipment, Products, and Services purchased 
by Participating Entities under this Contract during each calendar quarter. Payments should 
note the Vendor’s name and Sourcewell-assigned contract number in the memo; and must be 
mailed to the address above “Attn: Accounts Receivable” or remitted electronically to 
Sourcewell’s banking institution per Sourcewell’s Finance department instructions. Payments 
must be received no later than 45 calendar days after the end of each calendar quarter. 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           7 
 

 
Vendor agrees to cooperate with Sourcewell in auditing transactions under this Contract to 
ensure that the administrative fee is paid on all items purchased under this Contract. 

 
In the event the Vendor is delinquent in any undisputed administrative fees, Sourcewell 
reserves the right to cancel this Contract and reject any proposal submitted by the Vendor in 
any subsequent solicitation. In the event this Contract is cancelled by either party prior to the 
Contract’s expiration date, the administrative fee payment will be due no more than 30 days 
from the cancellation date.  
 

9. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 
 
Sourcewell's Authorized Representative is its Chief Procurement Officer.   

 
Vendor’s Authorized Representative is the person named in the Vendor’s Proposal. If Vendor’s 
Authorized Representative changes at any time during this Contract, Vendor must promptly 
notify Sourcewell in writing. 

 
10. AUDIT, ASSIGNMENT, AMENDMENTS, WAIVER, AND CONTRACT COMPLETE 

 
A. AUDIT. Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Section 16C.05, subdivision 5, the books, records, 
documents, and accounting procedures and practices relevant this Agreement are subject to 
examination by Sourcewell or the Minnesota State Auditor for a minimum of six years from the 
end of this Contract. This clause extends to Participating Entities as it relates to business 
conducted by that Participating Entity under this Contract. 
 
B. ASSIGNMENT. Neither the Vendor nor Sourcewell may assign or transfer any rights or 
obligations under this Contract without the prior consent of the parties and a fully executed 
assignment agreement. Such consent will not be unreasonably withheld.     
 
C. AMENDMENTS. Any amendment to this Contract must be in writing and will not be effective 
until it has been fully executed by the parties.   
 
D. WAIVER. If either party fails to enforce any provision of this Contract, that failure does not 
waive the provision or the right to enforce it. 
 
E. CONTRACT COMPLETE. This Contract contains all negotiations and agreements between 
Sourcewell and Vendor. No other understanding regarding this Contract, whether written or 
oral, may be used to bind either party. For any conflict between the attached Proposal and the 
terms set out in Articles 1-22, the terms of Articles 1-22 will govern. 
 
F. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES. The relationship of the parties is one of independent 
contractors, each free to exercise judgment and discretion with regard to the conduct of their 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           8 
 

respective businesses. This Contract does not create a partnership, joint venture, or any other 
relationship such as master-servant, or principal-agent.  

 
11. LIABILITY 

  
Vendor must indemnify, save, and hold Sourcewell and its Participating Entities, including their 
agents and employees, harmless from any claims or causes of action, including attorneys’ fees, 
arising out of the performance of this Contract by the Vendor or its agents or employees; this 
indemnification includes injury or death to person(s) or property alleged to have been caused 
by some defect in the Equipment, Products, or Services under this Contract to the extent the 
Equipment, Product, or Service has been used according to its specifications. In no event will 
Vendor be liable for any loss of use, revenue, or profit, or for any consequential, incidental, 
indirect, or exemplary damages, whether arising out of breach of contract, tort (including 
negligence), or otherwise, regardless of whether such damage was foreseeable and whether or 
not the indemnitee was advised of the possibility of such damages. 

 
12. GOVERNMENT DATA PRACTICES 

 
Vendor and Sourcewell must comply with the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, 
Minnesota Statutes Chapter 13, as it applies to all data provided by or provided to Sourcewell 
under this Contract and as it applies to all data created, collected, received, stored, used, 
maintained, or disseminated by the Vendor under this Contract.  
 
If the Vendor receives a request to release the data referred to in this article, the Vendor must 
immediately notify Sourcewell and Sourcewell will assist with how the Vendor should respond 
to the request. 
 

13. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PUBLICITY, MARKETING, AND ENDORSEMENT 
 

A. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
1. Grant of License. During the term of this Contract: 

a. Sourcewell grants to Vendor a royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive right and 
license to use theTrademark(s) provided to Vendor by Sourcewell in advertising and 
promotional materials for the purpose of marketing Sourcewell’s relationship with 
Vendor. 
b. Vendor grants to Sourcewell a royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive right and 
license to use Vendor’s Trademarks in advertising and promotional materials for the 
purpose of marketing Vendor’s relationship with Sourcewell. 

2. Limited Right of Sublicense. The right and license granted herein includes a limited right 
of each party to grant sublicenses to its and their respective distributors, marketing 
representatives, and agents (collectively “Permitted Sublicensees”) in advertising and 
promotional materials for the purpose of marketing the Parties’ relationship to Participating 
Entities. Any sublicense granted will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Article. 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           9 
 

Each party will be responsible for any breach of this Article by any of their respective 
sublicensees.  
3. Use; Quality Control.  

a. Sourcewell must not alter Vendor’s Trademarks from the form provided by 
Vendor and must comply with Vendor’s removal requests as to specific uses of its 
trademarks or logos.   
b. Vendor must not alter Sourcewell’s Trademarks from the form provided by 
Sourcewell and must comply with Sourcewell’s removal requests as to specific uses 
of its trademarks or logos.   
c. Each party agrees to use, and to cause its Permitted Sublicensees to use, the 
other party’s Trademarks only in good faith and in a dignified manner consistent 
with such party’s use of the Trademarks. Upon written notice to the breaching party, 
the breaching party has 30 days of the date of the written notice to cure the breach 
or the license will be terminated.  

4. As applicable, Vendor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Sourcewell and its 
Participating Entities against any and all suits, claims, judgments, and costs instituted or 
recovered against Sourcewell or Participating Entities by any person on account of the use 
of any Equipment or Products by Sourcewell or its Participating Entities supplied by Vendor 
in violation of applicable patent or copyright laws. 
5. Termination. Upon the termination of this Contract for any reason, each party, including 
Permitted Sublicensees, will have 30 days to remove all Trademarks from signage, websites, 
and the like bearing the other party’s name or logo (excepting Sourcewell’s pre-printed 
catalog of vendors which may be used until the next printing).  Vendor must return all 
marketing and promotional materials, including signage, provided by Sourcewell, or dispose 
of it according to Sourcewell’s written directions. 

 
B. PUBLICITY. Any publicity regarding the subject matter of this Contract must not be released 
without prior written approval from the Authorized Representatives. Publicity includes notices, 
informational pamphlets, press releases, research, reports, signs, and similar public notices 
prepared by or for the Vendor individually or jointly with others, or any subcontractors, with 
respect to the program, publications, or services provided resulting from this Contract. 
 
C. MARKETING. Any direct advertising, marketing, or offers with Participating Entities must be 
approved by Sourcewell. Materials should be sent to the Sourcewell Contract Administrator 
assigned to this Contract.   
 
D. ENDORSEMENT. The Vendor must not claim that Sourcewell endorses its Equipment, 
Products, or Services. 

 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           10 
 

14. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 
 
Minnesota law governs this Contract. Venue for all legal proceedings out of this Contract, or its 
breach, must be in the appropriate state court in Todd County or federal court in Fergus Falls, 
Minnesota.  
 

15. FORCE MAJEURE 
 
Neither party to this Contract will be held responsible for delay or default caused by acts of God 
or other conditions that are beyond that party’s reasonable control. A party defaulting under 
this provision must provide the other party prompt written notice of the default. 
 

16. SEVERABILITY 
 
If any provision of this Contract is found to be illegal, unenforceable, or void then both 
Sourcewell and Vendor will be relieved of all obligations arising under such provisions. If the 
remainder of this Contract is capable of performance, it will not be affected by such declaration 
or finding and must be fully performed. 
 

17. PERFORMANCE, DEFAULT, AND REMEDIES 
 
A. PERFORMANCE. During the term of this Contract, the parties will monitor performance and 
address unresolved contract issues as follows:  
 

1. Notification. The parties must promptly notify each other of any known dispute and 
work in good faith to resolve such dispute within a reasonable period of time. If necessary, 
Sourcewell and the Vendor will jointly develop a short briefing document that describes the 
issue(s), relevant impact, and positions of both parties.  
2. Escalation. If parties are unable to resolve the issue in a timely manner, as specified 
above, either Sourcewell or Vendor may escalate the resolution of the issue to a higher 
level of management. The Vendor will have 30 calendar days to cure an outstanding issue.  
3. Performance while Dispute is Pending. Notwithstanding the existence of a dispute, the 
Vendor must continue without delay to carry out all of its responsibilities under the 
Contract that are not affected by the dispute. If the Vendor fails to continue without delay 
to perform its responsibilities under the Contract, in the accomplishment of all undisputed 
work, any additional costs incurred by Sourcewell and/or its Participating Entities as a result 
of such failure to proceed will be borne by the Vendor. 

 
B. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES. Either of the following constitutes cause to declare this Contract, 
or any Participating Entity order under this Contract, in default:   

 
1. Nonperformance of contractual requirements, or  
2. A material breach of any term or condition of this Contract.   



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           11 
 

 
Written notice of default and a reasonable opportunity to cure must be issued by the party 
claiming default. Time allowed for cure will not diminish or eliminate any liability for liquidated 
or other damages. If the default remains after the opportunity for cure, the non-defaulting 
party may: 
 

 Exercise any remedy provided by law or equity, or 
 Terminate the Contract or any portion thereof, including any orders issued against the 

Contract. 
 

18. INSURANCE 
  
A. REQUIREMENTS. At its own expense, Vendor must maintain insurance policy(ies) in effect at 
all times during the performance of this Contract with insurance company(ies) licensed or 
authorized to do business in the State of Minnesota having an “AM BEST” rating of A- or better, 
with coverage and limits of insurance not less than the following:  

 
1. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability.  
Workers’ Compensation: As required by any applicable law or regulation.  
Employer's Liability Insurance: must be provided in amounts not less than listed below: 

Minimum limits: 
$500,000 each accident for bodily injury by accident 
$500,000 policy limit for bodily injury by disease 
$500,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease 

  
2. Commercial General Liability Insurance. Vendor will maintain insurance covering its 
operations, with coverage on an occurrence basis, and must be subject to terms no less 
broad than the Insurance Services Office (“ISO”) Commercial General Liability Form 
CG0001 (2001 or newer edition), or equivalent. At a minimum, coverage must include 
liability arising from premises, operations, bodily injury and property damage, 
independent contractors, products-completed operations including construction defect, 
contractual liability, blanket contractual liability, and personal injury and advertising 
injury. All required limits, terms and conditions of coverage must be maintained during 
the term of this Contract. 

 Minimum Limits:  
$1,000,000 each occurrence Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising Injury 
$2,000,000 aggregate for Products-Completed operations  
$2,000,000 general aggregate 

 
3. Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance. During the term of this Contract, Vendor 
will maintain insurance covering all owned, hired, and non-owned automobiles in limits 
of liability not less than indicated below. The coverage must be subject to terms no less 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           12 
 

broad than ISO Business Auto Coverage Form CA 0001 (2010 edition or newer), or 
equivalent. 

 Minimum Limits: 
$1,000,000 each accident, combined single limit 

 
4. Umbrella Insurance. During the term of this Contract, Vendor will maintain umbrella 
coverage over Workers’ Compensation, Commercial General Liability, and Commercial 
Automobile. 

Minimum Limits: 
$2,000,000  
 

5. Network Security and Privacy Liability Insurance. During the term of this Contract, 
Vendor will maintain coverage for network security and privacy liability. The coverage 
may be endorsed on another form of liability coverage or written on a standalone 
policy. The insurance must cover claims which may arise from failure of Vendor’s 
security resulting in, but not limited to, computer attacks, unauthorized access, 
disclosure of not public data – including but not limited to, confidential or private 
information, transmission of a computer virus, or denial of service.  

 Minimum limits:  
$2,000,000 per occurrence 
$2,000,000 annual aggregate 

 
Failure of Vendor to maintain the required insurance will constitute a material breach entitling 
Sourcewell to immediately terminate this Contract for default.  
 
B. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE. Prior to commencing under this Contract, Vendor must furnish 
to Sourcewell a certificate of insurance, as evidence of the insurance required under this 
Contract. Prior to expiration of the policy(ies), renewal certificates must be mailed to 
Sourcewell, 202 12th Street Northeast, P.O. Box 219, Staples, MN 56479 or sent to the 
Sourcewell Contract Administrator assigned to this Contract. The certificates must be signed by 
a person authorized by the insurer(s) to bind coverage on their behalf. 
 
Failure to request certificates of insurance by Sourcewell, or failure of Vendor to provide 
certificates of insurance, in no way limits or relieves Vendor of its duties and responsibilities in 
this Contract. 
 
C. ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT AND PRIMARY AND NON-CONTRIBUTORY 
INSURANCE CLAUSE. Vendor agrees to list Sourcewell and its Participating Entities, including 
their officers, agents, and employees, as an additional insured under the Vendor’s commercial 
general liability insurance policy with respect to liability arising out of activities, “operations,” or 
“work” performed by or on behalf of Vendor, and products and completed operations of 
Vendor. The policy provision(s) or endorsement(s) must further provide that coverage is 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           13 
 

primary and not excess over or contributory with any other valid, applicable, and collectible 
insurance or self-insurance in force for the additional insureds.   
 
D. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. Vendor waives and must require (by endorsement or 
otherwise) all its insurers to waive subrogation rights against Sourcewell and other additional 
insureds for losses paid under the insurance policies required by this Contract or other 
insurance applicable to the Vendor or its subcontractors. The waiver must apply to all 
deductibles and/or self-insured retentions applicable to the required or any other insurance 
maintained by the Vendor or its subcontractors. Where permitted by law, Vendor must require 
similar written express waivers of subrogation and insurance clauses from each of its 
subcontractors.   
 
E. UMBRELLA/EXCESS LIABILITY/SELF-INSURED RETENTION. The limits required by this 
Contract can be met by either providing a primary policy or in combination with 
umbrella/excess liability policy(ies), or self-insured retention. 
 

19. COMPLIANCE 
 
A. LAWS AND REGULATIONS. All Equipment, Products, or Services provided under this 
Contract must comply fully with applicable federal laws and regulations, and with the laws in 
the states and provinces in which the Equipment, Products, or Services are sold.  
 
B. LICENSES. Vendor must maintain a valid and current status on all required federal, 
state/provincial, and local licenses, bonds, and permits required for the operation of the 
business that the Vendor conducts with Sourcewell and Participating Entities. 

 
20. BANKRUPTCY, DEBARMENT, OR SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION 

 
Vendor certifies and warrants that it is not in bankruptcy or that it has previously disclosed in 
writing certain information to Sourcewell related to bankruptcy actions. If at any time during 
this Contract Vendor declares bankruptcy, Vendor must immediately notify Sourcewell in 
writing. 
 
Vendor certifies and warrants that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, 
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from programs 
operated by the State of Minnesota; the United States federal government or the Canadian 
government, as applicable; or any Participating Entity. Vendor certifies and warrants that 
neither it nor its principals have been convicted of a criminal offense related to the subject 
matter of this Contract. Vendor further warrants that it will provide immediate written notice 
to Sourcewell if this certification changes at any time. 
 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           14 
 

21. PROVISIONS FOR NON-UNITED STATES FEDERAL ENTITY PROCUREMENTS UNDER 
UNITED STATES FEDERAL AWARDS OR OTHER AWARDS 

 
Participating Entities that use United States federal grant or FEMA funds to purchase goods or 
services from this Contract may be subject to additional requirements including the 
procurement standards of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, 2 C.F.R. § 200. Participating Entities may also require 
additional requirements based on specific funding specifications. Within this Article, all 
references to “federal” should be interpreted to mean the United States federal government. 
The following list only applies when a Participating Entity accesses Vendor’s Equipment, 
Products, or Services with United States federal funds. 
 
A. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY. Except as otherwise provided under 41 C.F.R. § 60, all 
contracts that meet the definition of “federally assisted construction contract” in 41 C.F.R. § 60-
1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 C.F.R. §60-1.4(b), in 
accordance with Executive Order 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” (30 FR 12319, 
12935, 3 C.F.R. §, 1964-1965 Comp., p. 339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, “Amending 
Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and implementing 
regulations at 41 C.F.R. § 60, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal 
Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” The equal opportunity clause is incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 
B. DAVIS-BACON ACT, AS AMENDED (40 U.S.C. § 3141-3148). When required by federal 
program legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by non-
federal entities must include a provision for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. § 
3141-3144, and 3146-3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. § 5, 
“Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted 
Construction”). In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to 
laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage 
determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be required to pay 
wages not less than once a week. The non-federal entity must place a copy of the current 
prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of Labor in each solicitation. The 
decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the 
wage determination. The non-federal entity must report all suspected or reported violations to 
the federal awarding agency. The contracts must also include a provision for compliance with 
the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. § 3145), as supplemented by Department of Labor 
regulations (29 C.F.R. § 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work 
Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States”). The Act provides that 
each contractor or subrecipient must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person 
employed in the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the 
compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled. The non-federal entity must report 
all suspected or reported violations to the federal awarding agency. Vendor must be in 
compliance with all applicable Davis-Bacon Act provisions. 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           15 
 

 
C. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT (40 U.S.C. § 3701-3708). Where 
applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-federal entity in excess of $100,000 that involve 
the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 
U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. § 5). 
Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of 
every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess 
of the standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of 
not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 
hours in the work week. The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction 
work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or 
under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements 
do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the 
open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. This provision is 
hereby incorporated by reference into this Contract. Vendor certifies that during the term of an 
award for all contracts by Sourcewell resulting from this procurement process, Vendor must 
comply with applicable requirements as referenced above. 
 
D. RIGHTS TO INVENTIONS MADE UNDER A CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT. If the federal award 
meets the definition of “funding agreement” under 37 C.F.R. § 401.2(a) and the recipient or 
subrecipient wishes to enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit organization 
regarding the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of experimental, 
developmental, or research work under that “funding agreement,” the recipient or subrecipient 
must comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R. § 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit 
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative 
Agreements,” and any implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency. Vendor 
certifies that during the term of an award for all contracts by Sourcewell resulting from this 
procurement process, Vendor must comply with applicable requirements as referenced above. 
 
E. CLEAN AIR ACT (42 U.S.C. § 7401-7671Q.) AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL 
ACT (33 U.S.C. § 1251-1387). Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 require 
the non-federal award to agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations 
issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401- 7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251- 1387). Violations must be reported to the Federal 
awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Vendor 
certifies that during the term of this Contract will comply with applicable requirements as 
referenced above. 
 
F. DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (EXECUTIVE ORDERS 12549 AND 12689). A contract award 
(see 2 C.F.R. § 180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the government wide exclusions 
in the System for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 C.F.R. 
§180 that implement Executive Orders 12549 (3 C.F.R. § 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 
C.F.R. § 1989 Comp., p. 235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           16 
 

of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared 
ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549. Vendor 
certifies that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation by any federal 
department or agency. 
 
G. BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, AS AMENDED (31 U.S.C. § 1352). Vendors must file 
any required certifications. Vendors must not have used federal appropriated funds to pay any 
person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member 
of Congress in connection with obtaining any federal contract, grant, or any other award 
covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Vendors must disclose any lobbying with non-federal funds that 
takes place in connection with obtaining any federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded 
from tier to tier up to the non-federal award. Vendors must file all certifications and disclosures 
required by, and otherwise comply with, the Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. § 
1352). 
 
H. RECORD RETENTION REQUIREMENTS. To the extent applicable, Vendor must comply with 
the record retention requirements detailed in 2 C.F.R. § 200.333. The Vendor further certifies 
that it will retain all records as required by 2 C.F.R. § 200.333 for a period of 3 years after 
grantees or subgrantees submit final expenditure reports or quarterly or annual financial 
reports, as applicable, and all other pending matters are closed. 
 
I. ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT COMPLIANCE. To the extent applicable, Vendor 
must comply with the mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are 
contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy 
and Conservation Act. 
 
J. BUY AMERICAN PROVISIONS COMPLIANCE. To the extent applicable, Vendor must comply 
with all applicable provisions of the Buy American Act. Purchases made in accordance with the 
Buy American Act must follow the applicable procurement rules calling for free and open 
competition. 
 
K. ACCESS TO RECORDS (2 C.F.R. § 200.336). Vendor agrees that duly authorized 
representatives of a federal agency must have access to any books, documents, papers and 
records of Vendor that are directly pertinent to Vendor’s discharge of its obligations under this 
Contract for the purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions. The right 
also includes timely and reasonable access to Vendor’s personnel for the purpose of interview 
and discussion relating to such documents. 
 
L. PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS (2 C.F.R. § 200.322). A non-federal entity that is 
a state agency or agency of a political subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply 
with Section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation 



040621-WQI 
 

Rev. 10/2020                           17 
 

and Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in 
guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 C.F.R. § 247 that contain the 
highest percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a 
satisfactory level of competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the 
value of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring 
solid waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; 
and establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials 
identified in the EPA guidelines.  
 

22. CANCELLATION 
 

Sourcewell or Vendor may cancel this Contract at any time, with or without cause, upon 60 
days’ written notice to the other party. However, Sourcewell may cancel this Contract 
immediately upon discovery of a material defect in any certification made in Vendor’s Proposal.  
Cancellation of this Contract does not relieve either party of financial, product, or service 
obligations incurred or accrued prior to cancellation. 
 
 

Sourcewell    Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC 
 
 

By: __________________________ By: __________________________ 
Jeremy Schwartz John Defenbaugh 

Title: Chief Procurement Officer Title: President-Commercial 
 

Date: ________________________ Date: ________________________ 
 
 
Approved:  
 
 

 

By: __________________________  
Chad Coauette  

Title: Executive Director/CEO  
 
Date: ________________________ 

 

 
 



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC  

Exceptions to Terms, Conditions, or Specifications Form 
 
Only those Proposer Exceptions to Terms, Conditions, or Specifications that have been accepted by Sourcewell have been 
incorporated into the contract text. 

 
Documents 

 

Ensure your submission document(s) conforms to the following: 
 

1. Documents in PDF format are preferred. Documents in Word, Excel, or compatible formats may also be provided. 
 

2. Documents should NOT have a security password, as Sourcewell may not be able to open the file. It is your sole responsibility to 
ensure that the uploaded document(s) are not either defective, corrupted or blank and that the documents can be opened and viewed 
by Sourcewell. 

 
3. Sourcewell may reject any response where any document(s) cannot be opened and viewed by Sourcewell. 

 
4. If you need to upload more than one (1) document for a single item, you should combine the documents into one zipped file. If the 
zipped file contains more than one (1) document, ensure each document is named, in relation to the submission format item responding 
to. For example, if responding to the Marketing Plan category save the document as "Marketing Plan." 

 
 

Financial Strength and Stability - 2. RFP 040621 Wastequip 09 Financial Strength and Stability.pdf - Monday April 05, 2021 
14:47:13 
Marketing Plan/Samples - 7. RFP 040621 Wastequip 032 Marketing Plan Samples.pdf - Monday April 05, 2021 14:52:09 
WMBE/MBE/SBE or Related Certificates (optional) 
Warranty Information - 9. RFP 040621 Wastequip 042 Warranty.pdf - Monday April 05, 2021 14:47:25 
Pricing - 11. RFP 040621 Wastequip Price Offerings Zip.zip - Tuesday April 06, 2021 07:05:22 
Upload Additional Document - 16RFP0~1.PDF - Tuesday April 06, 2021 11:16:00 



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



Bid Number: RFP 040621 Vendor Name: Wastequip Manufacturing Company LLC



   
Public Works Committee 9.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Avery Rigney, Public Works 
Initiator: Avery Rigney, Asst. Public Works Director
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Receive report on street rehabilitation projects funded by the 2019 CIP street sales tax, or take other
necessary action. (Mike Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
In 2019, the public voted on an additional .33% sales tax that was to be committed to street
rehabilitation. The sales tax was slated to bring in Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000.00) and the
City of Muskogee Foundation agreed to provide a Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000.00) match
contribution. 

The City was divided into 4 zones, with Okmulgee/Chandler being the North and South dividing line,
and Main Street being the East and West dividing line. The sum of the sales tax and foundation match
of Twenty-four ($24,000,000.00) is to be divided equally into Six Million ($6,000,000.00) per zone. 

As of today, the City has done significant work in each zone. There is a PowerPoint that will be
presented by Staff at the Public Works Committee meeting on 3/11/24 that will take a more in depth
review of where the funds have been utilized, where we currently stand, and our plans to move forward.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report. 

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
CIP Zone 



CIP Zone Update
For Street Improvement Advisory Commission 2/14/24



Reminders

• Additional .33% sales tax as approved by the voters

• $12m in sales tax revenue

• $12m in City of Muskogee Foundation Match

• Primary focus on residential streets

• Clean the Chalkboard, shot of adrenaline for street maintenance

• Biggest road project in Muskogee history

• Maintenance vs new construction

• What can we do for road maintenance?



Streets Condition prior to CIP for Street Rehab

• Current Residential Streets -230 Miles

• Asphalt/Chip Seal - 178 Miles
• Concrete - 52 Miles

• Average PCI    = 56

• Miles Below 60 PCI = 82

• Miles Below 45 PCI = 48 



Street Conditions post CIP for Street Rehab

• After the CIP is completed the streets will be reassessed and assigned 
a new Pavement Condition Index. 

• Staff would estimate an improvement from the original rating of a 56 
to above a 70. Which is a substantial improvement. 



Northwest Zone

Northwest Zone 

Project Contractor Cost 

Mill and Overlay APAC 2,826,607 

Microseal Vance 1,578,378 

Concrete 

Traffic Direct Traffic 45,000 

Viaduct TLS TEC 177,590 

Asphalt for Level Up City Staff 641,215 

• Mill and Overlay completed in 2023
• Microseal Completed in 2023
• Viaduct – 4 corners- completed in 2024
• Traffic striping to date- completed in 

2024



Northeast Zone

Northeast Zone 

Project Contractor Cost 

Mill and Overlay RossCon 3,000,000 

Microseal 1,172,097 

Concrete 
Cook, Good 
Concrete 66,980 

Traffic Direct 279,774 

Traffic Advanced 41,650 

Viaduct 177,590 

Asphalt for Level Up 7,870 

• Mill and Overlay completed in 2021
• Microseal Completed in 2021
• Concrete work

• Utah and Haskell- completed 
late 2023

• Country Club Multi-Panel 
replacement- Completed in 
2023

• Gibson Street from York to 
Daisy Completed February 
2024

• Traffic completed in 2021
• Viaduct 4 Corners- 2024



Southwest Zone
Southwest Zone 

Project Contractor Cost 

Mill and Overlay APAC 3,869,701 

Microseal Vance 673,457 

Concrete 

Traffic 

Viaduct 177,590 

Asphalt for Level Up 62,117 

• Mill and Overlay- 80% complete to 
date

• Microseal- complete in 2024
• Viaduct 4 Corners- 2024



Southeast Zone
Southeast Zone 

Project Contractor Cost 

Mill and Overlay RossCon 1,663,540 

Mill and Overlay Pre 2024 RossCon 54,388 

Microseal 1,684,968 

Concrete 

Traffic 

Viaduct 177,590 

Country Club (Total remaining amount) 1,368,975 

ROW Acquisition Pinnacle/Citizens 212,250 

Engineering HUB 18,775 

Asphalt for Level Up 40,381 

• Mill and Overlay- 95% complete
• Microseal- to begin in late summer 

depending on City level up
• There will be a significant cost in the 

level up process. Staff estimated 
$250,000 more or less

• Engineering and ROW acquisition 
pertain to the Country Club widening 
project in front of Creek Elementary

• There was initially $1.6M allocated to 
the Country Club widening and after 
ROW and Engineering there is 
$1,368,975. 

• There was already substantial rehab 
work done in this zone prior to the CIP 
that accommodates for the $1.6M for 
Country Club



Summary

• After all is accounted for there is around $2.5M left in the CIP fund for 
road improvements. As the remaining projects wrap up, staff will 
evaluate the City for best use of remaining funds. As projects come to 
fruition they will be brought to the Street Committee for 
recommendation and approval.

• The Street Committee, The Foundation, and the City Council deserve 
recognition for work going on across the City. 



   
Public Works Committee 10.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Avery Rigney, Public Works 
Initiator: Avery Rigney, Asst. Public Works Director
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval for the City of Muskoge to submit a  Notice of Intent to seek potential funding for
the Meadows Subdivision Flood Mitigation Study, in the amount of $150,000.00, and the Citywide
Stormwater Management Plan, in the amount of $500,000.00, to accept said grant funds if awarded,
and use of the matching grant funds in the amount of $187,500 for these grants, or take other necessary
action. (Mike Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
This item is to inform the City Council of the City staff's intent to seek grant funds for studies on
Citywide and Meadows Subdivision drainage issues. These studies are necessary for the City to secure
further grant funds in the future, such as the FEMA BRIC grant. 

There are 2 elements to this report:

1.) Citywide Master Drainage Plan- To secure potential grant funds in the future as it pertains to
stormwater drainage grants for studies, improvements, and other various opportunities, the City must
have a master stormwater drainage plan. A master stormwater drainage plan is an engineered study that
indicates problem areas in the City as it relates to: 

A complete inventory of the components, location, and condition of the public drainage system. 
The nature and magnitude of flood risk throughout the City.
The relative degree of flood risk in different areas of the City necessary to establish priorities for
further studies and capital improvement projects.
The likely range of costs to mitigate flood risks in the flood-prone parts of the City. 

The scope of this plan would be to build on the city-wide rain on grid analysis and hot spot
identification already completed to achieve the following: 

Review problem areas in detail 
Develop a prioritization criterion 
Develop mitigation project concepts
Rank Projects
Prioritize watersheds for further detailed study
Program a 5-year capital improvement program and watershed study plan
Conduct a detailed modeling and refine flood mitigation concept development for 1 or 2 of the
highest priority watersheds. 

The grant amount would be $500,000.00, the City would need to provide a 25% match for this if
awarded the grant.



2.) Meadows Subdivision Flood Mitigation Study- As the Council is aware, much of the Meadows is in
the Special Flood Hazard Area and the City reports that the area experiences frequent road flooding
that impedes ingress and egress as well as structural flooding. Over 50 residences reported flooding in
May 2022, including significant structural flooding with floodwaters up to 3 feet inside homes. Based
on a high level , rain-on-grid analysis already conducted, approximately 80 residential properties are
subject to inundation in a 100-year event. Additionally, the road flooding impacts response time for first
responders as well as community accessibility to residents and visitors.  

The scope of this study would include a detailed hydraulic and hydrologic analysis to refine the nature
and magnitude of the risk, identify potential mitigation alternatives, and design the selected alternative.
The mitigation alternatives expected to be evaluated are: 

Bridge improvements to reduce bottlenecks and resulting road and structural flooding due to
undersized culverts. 
Upstream detention to mitigate road and structural flooding
Residential buyouts
Some combination of the above

The grant amount would be $150,000,00 and does require a City 25% match.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Public Works Committee 11.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Mike Stewart, Public Works  Initiator: Ashley Wallace
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source: Mike Stewart 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of the lowest and best bid in the amount of $2,270,998.50, Subtotal Base plus Add
Alt. No. 1 Bid, from Cook Consulting, LLC, for Waterline Interconnects Package "D", Project No.
2022024, as recommended by Cowan Group Engineering, or take other necessary action. (Mike
Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
Package "D" or Priority Line Replacements is part of the Capital Improvements Plan Recommendation
for waterline replacement throughout the City of Muskogee consisting of packages D, E, and F. Each
package consists of approximately the same total linear feet of line replacement.  The replacement
needed for the lines was determined based on age, type of line, and work orders for leaks during the
creation of the Capital Improvements Plan.  The replacements in Package "D" will consist of 6, 10, and
12-inch waterlines totaling approximately 11,652 linear feet.  A base bid and an alternate bid were
presented to ensure the project was within the remaining budget.  The project is being funded through
the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) loan program which began in 2017 and this will
be the final bid package for the program, which will be completed approximately one (1) year after
construction begins.  Bids were solicited in the newspaper and online in multiple bid rooms.  The City
received two (2) bids which were competitive.  Cowan Group Engineering is recommending the award
to the low bidder, Cook Consulting, LLC.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve bid to Cook Consulting, LLC, in the amount of $2,270,998.50 for Package "D" Project No.
2022024.

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
Funding for this project is in the adopted budget in the MMA  Capital Projects Fund at
500-6530-461.62-26.

Attachments
Engineer's Recommendation Letter 
Engineer's Bid Tab 







   
Public Works Committee 12.        
Meeting Date: 03/11/2024  
Submitted For: Katrina Bodenhamer, City Attorney 
Initiator: Katrina Bodenhamer, City Attorney
Department: City Attorney
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Discuss a forensic audit of the City of Muskogee financial records, or take other necessary action. 
(Committee Member Traci McGee)

BACKGROUND:
Councilor McGee wishes to discuss a forensic audit of the City of Muskogee's financial records with
the Mayor and Council.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Discuss an audit.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.


	Agenda
	_1._14334
	       ATT_2-12 pw min
	_2.__Ordinance No. 4225-A Residential Fence Height Requirements
	       ATT_Ordinance 4225-A
	_3.__Ordinance 4229-A Municipal Employees Retirement Board
	       ATT_Ordinance 4229-A Municipal Employees Retirement Board
	AN AMENDED ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA, BY AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE V. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS, DIVISION 12 MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD; SECTION 2-470, ESTABLISHED; FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES; MEETINGS; QUORUM; SEC...
	Section. 2-470. Established; functions and duties; meetings; quorum.
	Sec. 2-471. Membership, election, and qualifications.
	Sec. 2-472. Terms and representation by department.
	Sec. 2-473. Absences and vacancies.

	_4.__City Council Policy 3-1-1, Affirmative Action
	       ATT_3-1-1
	       ATT_3-1-1 change
	_5.__Wholesale Customer Water Rates
	       ATT_Resolution 2977
	_6.__Azalea Cleanup Report 2024
	_7.__Airport TORA! TORA! TORA! Event 2024
	_8.__Wastequip - Two Yard Dumpsters, RFP #040621
	       ATT_quote
	       ATT_Sourcewell 
	_9.__Capital Improvement Project Street Zone Rehabilitation by Zone Update
	       ATT_CIP Zone
	_10.__Meadows Subdivision Flood Mitigation Study
	_11.__Cook Consulting LLC
	       ATT_Engineer's Recommendation Letter
	       ATT_Engineer's Bid Tab
	_12.__Forensic Audit of City Financial Records

